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Monday, October 21, 2019
--- On commencing at 9:33 a.m.

DR. ELSAYED:  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  My name is Emad Elsayed.  With me on the panel are Lynne Anderson and Robert Dodds.

The OEB sits today on the matter of a custom incentive rate-setting application by -- filed by Hydro One Networks Inc. -- for short I will call it Hydro One -- on March 21st, 2019, under section 78 of the OEB Act.

The application seeks approval of changes to the rates that Hydro One charges for electricity transmission to be effective January 1st, 2020, and for each following year through to December 31st, 2022.

May I have appearances, please.
Appearances:


MR. KEIZER:  Charles Keizer, counsel on behalf of Hydro One Networks Inc., and with me is Ms. Kathleen Burke, director of major applications, and Mr. Alex Zbarcea, senior advisor, regulatory affairs, and if I may, I will also put an appearance in for Mr. Arlen Sternberg, who will also be doing some of the panels of Hydro One.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.

MR. BRETT:  Good morning, panel.  Tom Brett, counsel for Building Owners and Managers Association.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.

MR. ELSON:  Good morning, Kent Elson for Environmental Defence.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MR. GARNER:  Good morning, Mark Garner, consultant for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.  And also I will put in an appearance for my colleague, Mr. Bill Harper, who will be showing for some of the panels.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.

MR. DUMKA:  Good morning.  I'm Bohdan Dumka.  I'm here for the Society of United Professionals.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.

MR. VELLONE:  Good morning, my name is John Vellone, and I am here for the Association of Power Producers of Ontario.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Good morning, my name is Jonathan McGillivray, counsel for Anwaatin.  I think I am good now.  I would also like to enter an appearance for Lisa DeMarco.  We will be appearing alternately throughout this hearing.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.

MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan, consultant to the Consumers Council of Canada.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.

MS. GRICE:  Good morning.  Shelley Grice, representing the Association of Major Power Consumers in Ontario.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.

MR. LADANYI:  Good morning.  Tom Ladanyi, consultant to Energy Probe, and I will be handling some parts of the case, and my associate, Dr. Higgin, who will introduce himself in a minute, will be handling other parts of the case.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.

DR. HIGGIN:  Roger Higgin for Energy Probe.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.

MR. POLLOCK:  Good morning, panel.  Scott Pollock, representing Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters, and I would also like to put in an appearance for my colleague, Ms. Erin Durant, who will be handling panels 2 and 3.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Good morning, panel.  James Sidlofsky and Ljuba Djurdjevic for Board Staff.  I am also here this morning -- we are also here this morning with Martin Davies, case manager for this matter.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.

I just want to -- maybe I will start with any preliminary matters.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Chair, we have two preliminary matters.  The first preliminary matter relates to a letter which was filed with the Board on October 17th last week, and it was a letter which set out an agreement between -- a settlement agreement between Environmental Defence and Hydro One in respect of Issue number 8, and Issue number 8 dealt with the issue of line losses.  And the issue in particular indicated was:  What is the status of Hydro One's joint work with the IESO to explore cost-effective transmission line loss reduction opportunities and to report on those initiatives.

The consequence of the letter is that Environmental Defence and Hydro One came to a conclusion that an effective and efficient way to go forward at least with respect to this issue and as between those two parties was five different aspects or five different parts to the approach dealing with line losses, including dealing with Hydro One and IESO, but also internal processes for Hydro One, and also, they're dealing with respect to their business cases.

It is a constructive and positive step forward and, in respect of that, there was filed attached to the letter an evidence, a piece of evidence, which was Exhibit B-1-1 TSP section 1.8, attachment number 2, and that evidence dealt with two aspects:  One, it articulated in conjunction with the issue what the current joint work status is between the Hydro One and IESO; but more importantly, what it also included in the evidence were the five approaches that Hydro One has agreed to go forward on with the Environmental Defence.

From the perspective of this proceeding, and I think the letter acknowledges this clearly as well, is that, although this is an arrangement between Environmental Defence and Hydro One, it -- obviously parties are still free to explore those issues of line losses, because it is constructive, it may alleviate some of those concerns that other parties may have, but it's not expected to bind or affect other parties in that regard.

That's what I was going to say with respect to the first preliminary issue, but Mr. Elson from Environmental Defence may want to add to that before I go to the second issue.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  If I could just explain a little bit the thinking behind it and the role that Environmental Defence intends to play.

I think you can sum up this joint position as a forward-looking approach to find improvements with respect to transmission losses, so it's more than documenting what's happening, it is forward-looking, searching for concrete results.  And the ultimate goal is of course to lower energy bills through cost-effective measures to lower transmission losses.

So we see a number of significant benefits to putting this forward as a joint position.  One, it's going to save a fair amount of time during this proceeding.  We also think that you would appreciate the benefit of having a joint position on this issue, and although it doesn't resolve it altogether, we expect that this kind of agreement to take further steps towards improvements will address concerns that other parties might have, and also it means that the work can start now and we don't have to wait for an oral hearing and a decision and we can, I guess, get on with it, you know, to put it colloquially.

Environmental Defence's participation is going to be limited from now on.  Because of this we don't feel the need to have cross-examinations.

I am here this morning to answer any questions that the Board might have, but aside from this issue I will step out, and I won't be participating in the oral hearing.

We will be providing some very concise submissions.  We don't see 100 percent eye to eye on the status of the work so far, and we will just be clarifying our views on that for the panel so that you have that, should you decide to address transmission losses in your decision one way or the other.

But because we agree on next steps with Hydro One, those will be very concise submissions, just to provide a bit of clarity on the current status.

So if you have any questions for me, I am here to answer them.  Other than that, I will make my leave.  Thank you.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  And I do thank the parties, Environmental Defence and Hydro One, for coming to an agreement.  This is an issue that has been going on for a while, and it is good that we are able to address it.

I just want to --


MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Chair, if I could just deal with my second preliminary issue --


DR. ELSAYED:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  -- I won't hold up the process any longer than I have to.

DR. ELSAYED:  That's okay.

MR. KEIZER:  The second preliminary issue is more just an administrative issue and to make sure parties are aware of it for purposes of examining the various witnesses on the panel.

On October 9th Hydro One filed a letter which identified the witness panels and the corresponding evidence that those witness panels and various witnesses are responsible for.

And currently what that letter identifies is one particular witness, Mr. Lincoln Frost-Hunt, who is VP, IT operations.  He -- Hydro One concluded that probably it is more efficient and effective to have Mr. Frost-Hunt actually testify on panel number 2, because he is responsible for various general plant and IT-related general plant business cases, as well as associated OM&A, and a lot of those are common cost-related initiatives.

So panel 2 is dealing with common corporate costs, and it is probably better for him to actually be on that panel associated with that issue and more effective.  So I wanted parties to know that with respect to that particular issue of general plant related to IT programs and anything associated with Mr. Frost-Hunt that he would be on panel 2, not panel 1.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Chair, those are the two preliminary issues that we have.  Thank you.

DR. ELSAYED:  Anyone else have any issue?  I just wanted to mention one quick thing.  The first item in our plan today is a high-level presentation of the application by Hydro One, and it's intended to set the context, I guess, for the hearing.  The reason I mention that is that there will be no oral cross-examination of that panel at this point.

However, each of the three -- and correct me if I'm wrong, Mr. Keizer -- each of the three would appear later on as part of other panels, and they will be -- everybody would have the opportunity to cross-examine them on anything, including the content of the content of the presentation?

MR. KEIZER:  That is correct, Mr. Chair.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  What I would like to do now, Mr. Keizer, if you could just introduce the panel by name first, so that they can be affirmed.  And then you can do your examination-in-chief.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  If I may, then.  Starting with the panellist closest to me is Mr. Andrew Spencer, vice president transmission and stations.

Next to Mr. Spencer is Mr. Bruno Jesus.  He's vice-president planning.

And then next to Mr. Jesus is Mr. Joel Jodoin, a director of strategic finance.  So if I could ask them to be affirmed.

DR. ELSAYED:  Mr. Dodds, if you want to affirm them.
HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PRESENTATION PANEL

Andrew Spencer, 

Bruno Jesus, 

Joel Jodoin; Affirmed.


MR. KEIZER:  As you indicated, Mr. Chair, the panellists will be appearing on other panels.  Mr. Jesus and Mr. Spencer will both be appearing on panel number 1.  Mr. Jodoin will be appearing on panel number 2 and obviously will be available, as you indicated, for cross-examination.

We have copies of the presentation.  We can hand those out, if people have them -- I think we have handed them out.

I have no direct examination for the presentation panel.  This is really meant to be an efficiency measure to avoid much direct examination, so I will turn it over to the panel to take us through the presentation.

DR. ELSAYED:  Before we do that, can we have an exhibit number?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, Mr. Elsayed.  We will mark that as Exhibit K1.1.  
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  PRESENTATION PANEL MATERIALS


MR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Please proceed with the presentation.

Presentation by Mr. Spencer:


MR. SPENCER:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman, members of the Board, and all attendees this morning.

My name is Andrew Spencer, and I'm the vice-president of transmission and stations with Hydro One.  We're here today of course to talk about the 2020 through 2022 transmission application we submitted for approval.  


Hydro One's transmission assets form the backbone of Ontario's electricity system, the system which serves approximately 98 percent of the province, by capacity, and covers some of the most diverse and challenging geographies in Canada.

The transmission system in Ontario powers a diverse mix of customers who, together in 2018, enabled the provincial GDP of over $725 billion, representing approximately 38 percent of the country's GDP.

We transmit electricity from generators to load customers, including 42 LDCs, 84 large industrial customers, who are directly connected to the transmission system.

Our transmission system is linked to five jurisdictions adjacent to Ontario through 26 high voltage interconnections, supporting efficient market operations as part of the North East Power Coordinating Council.

A reliable and resilient transmission system plays an important role in a sustainable energy sector.  In 2018, supported the achievement of over 93 percent of Ontario's generated electricity coming from zero GHG emission sources, as cited by the IESO.

The transmission system is a driving force for the economy, with customers putting a high emphasis on safety and reliability.  We are continually working to keep these priorities front of mind, while also driving cost efficiencies throughout the business.

As per our evidence, we benchmark well in these areas and we continue to make improvements.

Hydro One is currently facing a period of rapid change with many challenges, including customer expectations relating to reliability and power quality, which continue to increase.

Portions of the current transmission system date back more than fifty to a hundred years, with many assets coming due for renewal.  Aging infrastructure and deteriorating asset condition will require increased maintenance efforts and renewal in the coming years to mitigate the risk to public and employee safety, as well as system and customer reliability.

Thirdly, new government policy and regional infrastructure needs to address system constraints, enable new load growth, and facilitate access and new connections to the transmission system in an environment that is encouraging more competition in the transmission business.

An increased focus on critical infrastructure protection and regulatory compliance requirements necessitate the need for additional system resiliency mitigate the impacts of climate change, cyber attacks, and threats to physical security.

Lastly, rate impacts of our plan on both our transmission customers and distribution-connected customers.  Productivity is core to our competitive position in the marketplace, and for improving economic efficiency, and being able to reduce costs for the benefit of our customers and shareholders alike.

We would like to take a few minutes to briefly describe how our investment plan responds to these challenges.  Joel Jodoin is our director of strategic finance and will provide you an overview of our application and its financial highlights.  Mr. Bruno Jesus is our vice president of planning and engineering, and will describe how the investment plan was developed to be responsive to customer's needs and preferences.

And lastly, I will conclude our remarks with an overview of the plan itself.
Presentation by Mr. Jodoin:

MR. JODOIN:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman and members of the Board.  My name is Joel Jodoin and as mentioned, I am the director of strategic finance.  My remarks this morning will mostly cover the financial aspects of Hydro One's three-year custom IR application.

Specifically, I will cover four key items.  First, our timeline to filing.  Second, I will outline the structure of our application and highlight how we have incorporated key elements of the renewed regulatory framework.  Third, I will summarize the proposed changes to our 2020 revenue requirement and associated rate impacts.  And finally, I will outline the productivity savings included in this application.

The slide on the screen that you have in front of you shows our timeline to filing.  In brief, our customer engagement process finished in July 2017 and the results formed an important input into the investment plan, which began in April and concluded in November 2018.

We received Board approval of the plan on December 14th, 2018, and we filed our application on March 21st, 2019.

Let's move to the structure of our filing. Hydro One is filing a three-year custom IR application.  The revenue requirement for 2020 is determined using a cost of service forward test year approach.  The revenue requirement in subsequent years will be determined using Hydro One's custom revenue cap index or an RCI.

The RCI includes an inflation factor, a productivity factor, and a capital factor.  Note, the productivity factor is supported by econometric total factor of productivity for the transmission industry and by econometric total cost benchmarking for Hydro One's total transmission costs.

These studies, prepared by our expert consultant, demonstrate that Hydro One's total costs have been below the benchmark and will remain significantly below benchmark during the 2020-2022 period.

Our custom IR proposal includes two additional measures to protect customers.  First, an earnings sharing mechanism whereby Hydro One will share 50 percent of any earnings that exceed the allowed regulatory ROE by 100 basis points in any year of the application term.

Second, a capital in-service variance account.  This account protects customers from overpaying where Hydro One does not meet the in-service addition levels forecast within 98 percent of its capital program.

Our application is informed by key components of the renewed regulatory framework.  First, benchmarking studies, including, for example, OEB directed studies on our asset condition assessment process, capital investment planning process, and compensation.

Second, productivity savings.  These are built into the planned forecast to the benefit of ratepayers.  

Third, a full customer engagement exercise was undertaken to understand the needs and preferences of our customers.

Fourth, our transmission system plan, which documents our planning process, the outcomes it will deliver, and how it is aligned with our customer's needs and preferences; and finally, our efforts are assessed through a wide array of performance management metrics.

Moving to the financials.  This slide compares Hydro One's OEB-approved revenue requirement in 2019 to its 2020 updated request, to be filed later today.

The numbers in the 2020 updated column reflect changes relative to the 2020 blue-page revenue requirement made during interrogatories and undertakings.

These changes reflect updates for:  Federal legislation on tax depreciation.  Actual 2019 debt issuances.  And updated pension valuation. which Hydro One provided by way of an undertaking last week.  And an OPEB in-service additions update.  The source of each update is identified within the footnote.

2020 rates revenue requirement is now lower by 31.8 million.  As a result, the updated total revenue requirement for 2020 is actually 2.4 million lower than 2019 OEB-approved levels.  In other words, disregarding external and other revenue in regulatory accounts, Hydro One is asking for less revenue in 2020 than 2019 OEB-approved amount.

It is also important to note that the 2020 OM&A amounts are lower than any of our historical actuals dating from 2015 through 2018.

Another update will be made when the OEB issues the cost-of-capital parameters for 2020.  And we expect there will likely be a decrease.  At a high level an ROE decrease of approximately 0.5 percent has an associated impact of approximately 30 million in revenue requirement, including impacts to taxes.

Taking a deeper dive into the estimated 2020 rate impacts, the green figures on this slide reflect the revenue-requirement updates we discussed previously and the blue numbers reflect our previously filed blue-page submission.

As shown on the previous revenue-requirement slide, Hydro One's reduction in total -- in proposed total revenue requirement for 2020 relative to 2019 OEB-approved levels contributes to a decrease in rates of roughly 0.2 percent.

This is offset by external and other revenue and the disposition of regulatory accounts, which contribute to a rate increase of 3 percent.

The sum of the two items accounts for a 2.8 percent increase in total rates revenue requirement.

A few other items worth noting.  The average transmission rate increase in 2020 goes from 8.7 percent down to 6.6 percent.  As you can see, the majority of the rate increase, 3.8 percent, is attributable to declining load.

The three-year average transmission rate increase goes from 6.9 percent down to 6.2 percent.  Excluding load, the average increase is 4.5 percent over the three-year term.

The 2020 bill impact for a typical transmission connected customer is 0.5 percent and for a typical distribution-connected customer is 0.4 percent.

Moreover, a typical Hydro One medium-density residential class customer will see a total bill increase of approximately 60 cents per month, while a typical Hydro One general-service energy-build small business customer will see a total bill increase of approximately $1.43 per month.

Moving to productivity:  Hydro One has identified 370 million in productivity savings over the three-year period of the application in the form of defined OM&A and capital initiatives and undefined progressive productivity initiatives.

Progressive productivity is being introduced for the first time in this application.  It represents an upfront commitment from Hydro One to find additional efficiencies while executing planned investments without reducing work volumes.

The effect is that our capital costs have been reduced by the capital productivity amount.  Effectively, this is akin to an additional stretch factor, with the benefit of a well-structured governance program.

By including progressive productivity as part of this application, Hydro One is continuing its momentum in driving a culture of productivity and incenting its business to constantly find ways to keep rates low for customers.

Hydro One has given the benefit of these savings to ratepayers upfront and has taken on the execution risk to deliver its planned work program within a reduced funding envelope.

Measuring performance is key to achieving Hydro One's focus on accountability and continuous improvement.  Hydro One manages its performance through three mechanisms:  productivity and benchmarking studies, both of which have been discussed previously, and scorecards.

This application contains three scorecards and a productivity initiatives reporting framework which will be used to measure and drive improvement in performance.

The scorecards include:  A transmission scorecard, which aligns our strategy and results with the OEB's renewed regulatory framework outcomes.  The team scorecard, which links the company's goals and objectives with the performance-base compensation.  And operation scorecards, which provide a more granular level of targets.

The productivity initiatives reporting framework provides a clearly-defined process for reporting the company's progress against achieving the demonstrable productivity improvements identified in the business plan and which are built into the proposed OM&A and capital expenditure plans.

Thank you.  I will see you again on panel 2, where I will be happy to answer any of your questions.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.
Presentation by Mr. Jesus:


MR. JESUS:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman and members of the Board, for the opportunity to be here with you today.

My name is Bruno Jesus, and I am the vice-president of planning and engineering.  And I put together some remarks which highlight Hydro One's customer engagement and investment planning process.

Our transmission customer base is made up of three groups, end users such as mining and industrial enterprises that use power at transmission voltage levels.  Local distribution companies, such as Toronto Hydro, who deliver power to direct customers.  And finally, electricity generators like Ontario Power Generation, who deliver power to the transmission system.  In general, these customers are sophisticated, informed, and understand the challenges that are currently facing the industry.

Hydro One believes that understanding our customers and their needs is critical to a successful business.  Hydro One engages with customers on an ongoing basis through a number of different mechanisms.  For example, our account executives meet with transmission customers on a regular basis to discuss their needs and preferences with a view to addressing them in the investment plan.

We also engage with customers through our annual surveys.  In 2018 our overall transmission customer satisfaction was the highest in seven years at 90 percent, which is 12 percent higher than what it was in 2016.

Overall satisfaction with the Ontario grid control centre was 98 percent in 2018.

Hydro One also participates in focus planning meetings such as stakeholder sessions, and regional planning with the IESO.

We've established a number of oversight committees and working groups.  For example, we facilitate oversight committees in the Saugeen area -- i.e., chemical value -- oversight committees with Toronto Hydro and Ottawa Hydro and Alectra, and for our nuclear switch yards with Bruce Power and Ontario Power Generation.

We also facilitate an LDC working group and a Metrolinx working group.  Hydro One has also ongoing engagement with indigenous communities in Ontario who, although not directly connected to the transmission system, may be impacted by it in other ways.

Customer priorities.  Hydro One's investment plan was informed by the results of a customer engagement survey that sought input from customers on its priorities, pacing, and a level and mix of investments.

The key messages we received from our transmission customers were as follows:  Safety, reliability, and outage restoration are top prioritized outcomes.

Our investment plan scores for safety, reliability, and environment and reflect these priorities as identified by our customers.

Reducing the frequency of power interruptions is more important than reducing the duration.  Most important is reducing the number of day-to-day interruptions.

The engagement was completed sufficiently in advance of this application, enabling our planners to meaningfully incorporate the customer priorities into the plan.  In our customer engagement survey, we asked customers to tell us the right balance of rates and outcomes.

The majority of customers preferred scenario C by at least a three-to-one margin, which includes investment levels in line with what was before the OEB in our last transmission rate application.

Hydro One's plan is customer-focussed and reflects investment levels in line with what the majority of our customers support.

Here's a comparison of our plan against the key elements of the scenario C.  Like scenario C, our proposed five-year plan is for $6.6 billion.  Our plan will improve system reliability, and we will return to top quartile performance.

Our plan allows for stable rate increases now and in the future.  As Joel mentioned, the three-year average transmission rate increase without load is 4.5 percent.  Similarly, scenario C had an associated average transmission rate increase of 5.1 percent.

Recall that with load, the three-year average raid increase of our plan is 6.2 percent, although this will likely drop after the OEB updates cost of capital parameters.

On to the improved investment planning process.  This slide shows Hydro One's new 8-step risk based investment planning process.

It responds directly to the OEB decision in our last proceeding to continue to improve our investment planning process and engage with customers in a timely way.  Our new process improves how we prioritize investments, and ensures a consistent and common understanding of risk used by our planners across the enterprise.

Key improvements to the process include a revised risk assessment framework that embeds safety, reliability and environmental risks.  These are embedded within our risk assessment process and reflects the priorities that were identified by our customers.

We included clear definitions of risk impacts to enable consistent assessments across the diverse investments we consider.  We included challenge sessions to engage stakeholders across the company to review potential investments and discuss trade-offs.

The Boston Consulting Group reviewed our improved planning process, and concluded that it met or exceeded expectations relative to a best-in-class practice.

Hydro One's transmission system is facing a period of rapid change with many current and expected needs and challenges.

Notably, portions of the current transmission system date back more than fifty to a hundred years, with many assets in deteriorating condition and coming due for renewal.

A significant portion of our transmission assets are reaching the end of their expected service life.  Through natural aging, we forecast that 43 percent of our transformers, 23 percent of our breakers, 42 percent of our protection systems, and 13 percent of all our conductors will reach their expected service life over the next five years.

This evolving age profile is largely due to the rapid system development that occurred in the 1950s and 60s after the Second World War.

Assets beyond their expected service life generally have a higher likelihood of failing, or being in poor condition.  The expected service life provides a general guideline to inform investment decisions.

Nevertheless, the primary driver of replacement decisions is always asset condition.  In this regard, we continuously assess and test asset condition, assign a risk rating to indicate the condition from very low to very high risk.  A significant population of the major assets are currently in the high and very high risk categories, and this population has increased since our last rate application.

Addressing our aging infrastructure and deteriorating asset conditions will require increased maintenance requirements and renewal to mitigate risk to public and employee safety, as well as reliability.  Thank you.

MR. SPENCER:  In regards to executing the investment plan, I will speak around the following three points.  Hydro One's capital expenditures over the planned period, our OM&A costs, and improvements we have made which demonstrate our improved ability to execute the proposed plan on time and on budget.

As Mr. Jesus has mentioned, a significant portion of Hydro One's assets are reaching the end of their useful life, and have deteriorated to the point where investment is required to maintain customer reliability and meet safety and environmental requirements.

Hydro One's transmission system plan is a customer-focussed plan and reflects investment levels in line with what the majority of customers support.

In particular, the projects and programs included in the system renewal category will address the risks associated with our aging and deteriorating infrastructure by replacing deteriorated transformers, obsolete circuit breakers, unsafe porcelain insulators, and poor condition overhead conductors installed in the public domain across the province.

This work accounts for about 83 percent of the capital plan.  It is underpinned by asset condition assessments and is essential in supporting strong and successful communities and business development in Ontario.

System service and system access are non-discretionary investments made at the request of the government or customers respectively.  System service project examples include the east-west tie expansion, and capacity and reinforcement work in the Leamington area, which will help the growing agricultural industry.

System access work is largely driven by customer needs, for example responding to a Metrolinx to connect a power station so they can electrify a section of rail.

Finally, general plant investments, sustain our real estate facilities, our transportation and work equipment, and our IT systems, which directly and indirectly support field work and customer service.

Major investments in this category include hardware and software, the network management system upgrade, and a new integrated system operating centre.

Our proposed updated OM&A envelope for 2020 is $374 million.  The largest component is sustainment OM&A which funds the maintenance to existing transmission lines and station facilities to maintain their functionality.

This includes preventive and corrective maintenance, including non-discretionary regulatory compliance work.

Operations OM&A is comprised of the work needed to operate the transmission grid, and development OM&A supports standards development and research and development for the benefit of customers.

The remaining OM&A program includes common corporate administrative expenses, customer service costs, property taxes, and rates payments.

The 2020 OM&A program reflects Hydro One's effort to keep rate increases to a minimum, while making sure we have sufficient funding to meet the needs of our system and our customers.

Hydro One's 2020 OM&A is significantly less than the historic years of 2015-2018.  The 2020 OM&A has been reduced by almost 11 percent relative to the 2018 actuals.

Relative to the 2015-2018 average, 2020 OM&A is lower by almost $40 million, despite upwards cost pressures from new facilities through system expansion, aging infrastructure, additional compliance obligations, and natural cost inflation.

Reductions to our OM&A expenses are the result of a company-wide effort which was achieved in three key ways.  Sustained savings related to the extension of maintenance cycles, sustained productivity gains across the entire company and, thirdly, a company-wide exercise to reduce common corporate costs achieved by reducing vacancies and limiting consulting and contract engagements to critical functions only.

Many of these decreases continue on from 2019, when as a company we recognized the need to cut our OM&A and capital to accommodate the one-year IRM application for 2019.

From that experience, we have identified that the OM&A cuts that were sustainable and should be carried forward in future years, while non-sustainable cuts, such as the PCB removal program, have been included in this plan.

Hydro One has improved its project definition and execution processes and performance reporting framework to successfully deliver and report on the performance of its capital plan, as detailed in our evidence.

We have enhanced our capital delivery framework, primarily focussed on an improved structured project stage gating process and enhanced project management and project control practices.

This includes a quality review of the inputs into the project execution plan on a detailed and consistent go/no go criteria for assessing the quality of project deliverables.  This additional rigour in the up-front phases of individual projects is contributing to improved cost and schedule performance at the individual project and at the total portfolio levels, improving outcomes for customers.

In developing our investment plan, we increased our level of enterprise engagement, and carefully considered factors such as resourcing and outage planning flexibility to ensure feasibility and efficiency of execution.

We will leverage our flexible work force of regular, temporary, PWU hiring hall, direct hire construction trades, and qualified external service providers to deliver the 2020 to '22 work program.  We will have a particular emphasis on increased contracted work and level utilization of our direct hire casual workforce to deliver a growing capital work program.

We also have a meaningful framework for performance monitoring and reporting with respect to plan execution.  For instance, in response to the OEB's direction at the last rate application, Hydro One has introduced the following measures:

A TSP implementation progress measure to compare actual sustainment development and operating expenditures for in-service additions versus the internal company scorecard budget expenditures for in-service additions.

An additional asset in project management measures for OM&A program accomplishment and capital program accomplishment, which are directly linked to plan expenditures to drive a more positive and direct impact on customer outcomes.

In light of the evolved performance scorecard and the associated performance reporting governance framework, as well as the successful record of plan execution in recent years, we know we can effectively track and report on the successful delivery of our proposed plan.

Hydro One has demonstrated ability to successfully perform large capital work plans while minimizing the variability of its capital and in-service additions at the portfolio level.

As a result of the improvements we have implemented and despite the practical reality of managing a large capital program where projects may span multiple years when circumstances may change and plans must adapt accordingly, Hydro One was able to deliver its 2017 and '18 investment plan on an envelope basis in line with the OEB's direction in the last transmission application.

Through 2017 and '18 Hydro One achieved 1.9 billion in capital expenditures and 2.0 billion in in-service additions.

Variances to the OEB-approved amounts were modest, at 1.5 and 0.7 percent respectively.

These slight variances represent a major improvement to the 2014 through 2016 period, where the aggregate capital variance was 4 percent and the aggregate in-service additions variance was 9 percent.

This improving track record shows that Hydro One has the ability to accomplish sizeable investments very close to target at the portfolio level, and we are in a strong position to effectively deliver the proposed plan before this Board.

In closing, Hydro One is currently facing a period of rapid change with many challenges.  We are confident in this plan that achieves the appropriate balance between the imperatives of meeting compliance obligation, providing prudent stewardship over transmission assets that more than 14 million Ontarians depend upon, responsibly managing asset health and safety risks, responding to customer needs and preferences, and achieving sustainable financial performance while lowering our operating costs and embedding forward-looking productivity commitments into our plan.

We thank you for the opportunity to present today, and we will do our best to answer specific questions through the four panels that follow.  Thank you.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Ms. Anderson has one question for the panel.

MS. ANDERSON:  I just want to make sure I understand the nature of the update that I think you said is coming later today.  Sorry, I think it was Mr. Jodoin.

So it's related to the CCA changes for the feds.  There's an update to the debt rate, I take it, from actual debt issuances.  There is, you called it OPEB in-service additions update.  So I assume that is a change that will affect rate base?  Or does it affect rate base and OM&A?

MR. JODOIN:  Just rate base.

MS. ANDERSON:  Rate base.  And a pension valuation which again, does that affect OM&A and rate base?

MR. JODOIN:  The pension valuation would affect 
both, --


MS. ANDERSON:  Both?

MR. JODOIN:  -- that's right.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  So in other words, if it's affecting both OM&A, this is every number essentially changes?  What is it that we're going to see later today, a completely updated OM&A and rate base?  Or...

MR. JODOIN:  Correct.  And that our -- essentially every line of our revenue requirement will change.  We can commit to identifying the specifics.  So it is fairly easy to track.  But, yes, that's correct.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  So there is some mechanism for being able to compare.

MR. JODOIN:  Absolutely.  We will make it as simple as possible.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  And so when I am looking at the bill impacts that you've got in the presentation, that's compared to an update that you previously did, it's compared to the blue pages that were previously updated; is that correct?

MR. JODOIN:  Sure.  I mentioned there were some green numbers and some blue numbers.  The green numbers are what we will file today.  And the blue reflected our evidence as filed with the blue-page submission.  And you will note that -- so it's on the screen here now.  The updates that we've discussed, there's a little footnote that identify where you can find each one.

So most of these were filed and quantified as part of interrogatories or undertakings at the technical conference.  Now we're just bringing them all together.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay, thank you, that is helpful.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  So with that, I would like to thank the panel, and you are excused, and we will be ready for the next one.

MR. KEIZER:  So with that, Mr. Chair, maybe we could move on then to panel 1.

DR. ELSAYED:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  And ask them to take their seats and see Mr. Jodoin when he appears.

DR. ELSAYED:  You will need a couple of minutes for everybody to get settled.

MR. KEIZER:  So if I may, Mr. Chair, then introduce panel 1, so that those members who have not yet been affirmed, to be affirmed.  Maybe we will do this.  I will start with the panellist that is furthest from me, is Donna Jablonsky, director, transmission asset management.  You have met Mr. Jesus, vice-president, planning.  Next to Mr. Jesus is Mr. Mark Brodie, manager, transmission planning.  You have met Mr. Spencer, VP, transmission and stations. And next to Mr. Spencer is Mr. Godfrey Holder, director, program management.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.

DR. DODDS:  As already mentioned, two of you already have been sworn.
HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 1

Godfrey Holder, Affirmed.
Andrew Spencer, Previously Affirmed.
Mark Brodie, Affirmed.
Bruno Jesus, Previously Affirmed.
Donna Jablonsky, Affirmed.

DR. DODDS:  Thank you.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you, Mr. Keizer.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Keizer:

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  Thank you.  I just have a very brief direct before making the witnesses available for cross-examination.

Maybe Ms. Jablonsky, maybe I could start with you.  You are director, transmission asset management, correct?

MS. JABLONSKY:  Agreed.

MR. KEIZER:  Could you just very briefly describe your area of responsibility?

MS. JABLONSKY:  I look after the OM&A dollars for stations equipment.  I review strategies, and I also look after power equipment and engineering standards.

MR. KEIZER:  And, Mr. Jesus, you are VP planning, as you have indicated earlier.  Could you just briefly describe your area of responsibility?

MR. JESUS:  VP of planning and engineering, so I look after both planning and engineering.  So the planning, as per the system plan before you was largely, in part, through my shop.  We also do the detailed engineering to actually execute the work, and we carry out the performance reporting.

MR. KEIZER:  And, Mr. Brodie, you're manager transmission planning.  Could you also describe briefly your area of responsibility?

MR. BRODIE:  Sure.  Our area of responsibility in transmission planning is to look at the overall transmission system as a whole.  We put together the overall capital plans, not only for our specifically stations system renewal investments, as well as broader system access, system service investments and work closely with external parties, such as the IESO, in terms of planning the overall transmission system.

MR. KEIZER:  And, Mr. Spencer, you are VP transmission and stations.  Could you also briefly describe your area of responsibility?

MR. SPENCER:  Functionally, my team is accountable for our project management framework, our construction services and our maintenance teams that build and maintain the power system across Ontario.

For purposes of evidence today, I'm largely focussed on, along with Mr. Jodoin on panel 2, our productivity commitments, as well as our ability to deliver to our forward-looking work program.  And I will be complementing with Mr. Brodie around our historic abilities to deliver the plan as well.

MR. KEIZER:  And, Mr. Holder, you are director program management.  Could you briefly describe your areas of responsibility?

MR. HOLDER:  So my responsibility for this filing covers the operating portion of it, and responsible for support for system control.

System control is divided into the three areas: real time transmission, real time distribution, and the support.  So I support both the transmission and distribution, and that would include investment planning, it would include writing of the evidence that is before you, it will include strategic management also.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.  Maybe if I could ask, then, each of you to respond to this question in turn, starting with Ms. Jablonsky.

Do you adopt as your evidence those areas which you have identified for your air why of responsibility, in particular those identified in Hydro One's letter of October 9th, together with responses you may have given in the technical conference, as being -- adopting that for purposes of your evidence.  Ms. Jablonsky?

MS. JABLONSKY:  I do.

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Jesus?

MR. JESUS:  I do.

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Brodie?

MR. BRODIE:  I do.

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Spencer?

MR. SPENCER:  I do.

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Holder?

MR. HOLDER:  I do.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.  Mr. Chair, that is the completion of our direct examination, and the witnesses are now available for cross-examination.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  I think, Mr. Rubenstein, you go first.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, panel.  I have a compendium of documents.  I am not sure if the hearing panel, the Board panel has it.

DR. ELSAYED:  No, I don't have a copy yet -- sorry, yes, we do have it.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We will mark that as Exhibit K1.2. 
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  SEC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 1

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So this includes information that is on the record in this proceeding and some other information that is not, that I have provided my friends last week.  I do recognize some of the tables now actually may change based on your update, but we will have to see how far we can go with the information that is on the record so far.

I would just like to start by orienting ourselves to the capital plan specifically in this application, what it is based on.

If we can turn to page 2 of the compendium -- sorry, page 3 of the compendium, this is the capital -- this is a table that shows the capital expenditure forecast between 2019 and 2024, correct?

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And what you're specifically asking in this application is the 2020-2022 expenditures, correct?

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But it's based on a plan that goes out to 2024.  Do I understand that?  The planning process was based on a plan that goes out to 2024?

MR. JESUS:  That's correct, consistent with the Ontario Energy Board filing requirements.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And really what happens is the Board approves a capital expenditure, but ultimately that flows down to in-service additions which makes up rates, correct?

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And what should we take away from the 2023-2024 information?  If the Board approves your plan as filed, will the 2023 and 2024 capital expenditures be what you will apply for in -- for 2023 and 2024, or you don't know and it may change?  What this you we take away from that information?

MR. JESUS:  2023 and 2024 will form part of the next rate application, and it would be subject to change based on circumstances that would occur during this period.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So what we see for 2020, as I understand it, is you're seeking approval for a capital expenditure spend of one billion, 192 million, correct?

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And in 2021, it's one billion, 318 million, correct?

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then in 2020, it increases again to one billion, 370 million, correct?

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So a total -- I take a total over those 3 years of about three billion, 880 million, for an average of about one billion 293 million a year.  Does that sound about right?

MR. JESUS:  Subject to check.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now in 2019, you're forecasting to spend one billion and 38 million, correct?

MR. JESUS:  Sorry, what year again?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  2019, this year.

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But I understand it that the Board did not actually approve a capital expenditure number for 2019, because you had a revenue cap adjustment.  So they approved the increase in the revenue cap, but not specific line items like capital expenditures and so on, correct?

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the last time the Board approved your capital expenditures was in the context of the 2017-2018 rate application, correct?

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And what they approved was, in 2017, 950 million, and 2018 a billion, correct?

MR. JESUS:  Sorry, can you repeat that question?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What they approved in 2017 was a capital expenditure envelope of 950 million and in 2018, $1 billion.  Correct?

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  We see that on page 2 of the compendium, where you -- under the plan amount, correct?

MR. JESUS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What we see is you spent in 2017, 954 million, so a little bit more.  And then in 2018, you spent 967.3, somewhat less.  Correct?

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So when we look at 2017, what you spent, 2018 what you spent and what you are forecasting to 2019, I get a three-year spending amount of about two billion, 960 million.  Does that sound about right?

MR. JESUS:  What's the number again?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Two billion, 960 million, about that, just rounding.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. JESUS:  Subject to check.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that's an average of about 986 million.  Would you take that, subject to check?

MR. JESUS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so compared to the three billion 880 million, or the 1.293 billion per year that you are seeking approval to spend in 2020-2022, that's about a 31 percent increase in spending versus the previous three years.  Correct?

MR. JESUS:  It represents a 3.5 percent for 2020-2022.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, my question was if you take the 2017, the 2019 actuals and forecast for 2019, and compare it to the next three years, I get a total of about 31 percent increase in spending, three years over three years.

MR. JESUS:  From 2017?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  2017, 2018, 2019.  Comparing that to 20, 21, 22.

MR. JESUS:  Subject to check.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's a pretty significant increase in spending, three years over three.  Would you agree?  

MR. JESUS:  I would agree that the assets are aging and the costs are increasing.  I wouldn't categorize it as being significant, no.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You don't think a 31 percent increase of capital spending in your proposed plan versus the previous three years is not significant?

MR. JESUS:  I guess it depends on -- I would suggest not, based on the needs of the system, based on the needs of our customers, based on balancing all of those things with the rate impacts.  I think what you heard today is that the revenue requirements are actually less than what we were seeking before.  Does that...

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can turn to page 5 of the compendium.

MR. JESUS:  Sure.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  We see the trajectory of that spending on the table here.  The red is the actuals and the forecast is in the blue.  You would agree with me that the trend between the end of 2018, what you got approvals for, and through to the end of the approvals you're seeking in this application in 2022 is a ramping up of spending.  Correct?

MR. JESUS:  I wouldn't categorize it as a ramping up of spending.  I would categorize it as, this is what the system needs.  And the prudency and the investments that are before you are all documented with asset condition assessments.

So whether it is increasing -- it is increasing, granted.  But it's prudent.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I would hope that you would agree that the application before you in your view is prudent.  But you would agree with me that the trend is increasing capital spending.

MR. JESUS:  The trend is increasing to address the needs of the system, the needs of the customers; that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And is the trend -- is the amount in 2022 and 2023 and 2024, is that the new normal?

MR. JESUS:  I'm sorry, your question?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is that the new normal level of capital expenditures we should be expecting?

MR. JESUS:  As I indicated when you asked the question, it is subject to change pending the next rate application.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand.

MR. JESUS:  Based on the condition of the assets and, again, what the requirements are from the system perspective and the customers as well.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, do we -- I am not asking you to quantify this, but just give me a sense here.  Is the amounts we're seeing in those outer years, is that going to be the minimum or the normal?  Or can we expect the amounts to go down?  And this is just a --


MR. KEIZER:  I think the witness has already indicated, though, that he expects that it may change, given the fact that there will be further planning that will take place during the intervenor period in anticipation of five-year TSP filed as part of the joint application that is pending for 2023.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am just asking directionally, to have a sense.  Is this the new normal versus, we can expect that, if the Board approves your spending as you are requesting, ultimately we're going to see a reduction.  This is just, you have to deal with some assets so there is an increase, but later on we will see a decrease.  That is what I am trying to ascertain.

MR. JESUS:  At this point in time the way we see the system, those are the numbers for '23-'24.  They are subject to change based on requirements, based on the asset needs, based on customer needs, based on what is happening on the transmission system.  So they can change.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we go and we look at the chart on page 4, this is from your evidence, what it looks like to me is that the real driver in the capital spending is primarily in the system renewal category.  Correct?  In 2018 and 2017, 2018, 741, 776 million.  And in the 2022 at the end of your plan, 1.17 billion.  So that's the big driver of the increase.  Correct?

MR. JESUS:  I agree that a big driver is system renewal, for sure.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I just take the 773 in 2019 that you are planning to spend, and I look at 2022, the 1.173 billion, it's about -- to me it is about a 52 percent increase in spend.  Is that about right?

MR. JESUS:  That's correct, the numbers are there, and they're there for a reason, in terms of the system requiring system renewal, as I indicated in the opening remarks.  The assets are growing, and they're getting older, and they need to be renewed.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as we discussed, ultimately the capital expenditures will flow down to in-service additions.  Maybe not in that given year, but over time you recover these when the assets go in-service, correct?

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we turn to page 6, we have your in-service additions table.  I take it from Mr. Jodoin's comments this may slightly change based on some OPEB updates.

But based on the most up-to-date information we have in the evidence, when I add the 2020 to 2022 in-service additions I get about 3.63 million -- sorry, 3,630,000,000.  Correct?  Does that sound about right?

MR. JESUS:  That's about right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we compare that to the most recent three years, so the '17, '18, and '19 in-service additions, I get about 2.98 billion.  Will you accept that subject to check?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. JESUS:  Subject to check.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's about a 22 percent increase in the in-service additions of the proposed plan versus the previous three years.  Correct?

MR. JESUS:  Subject to check.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I think you talked about this in the presentation.  Would you agree with me that the overall rate increase in the application, or driving, sorry, the revenue-requirement increase, it's primarily capital-driven.  Correct?  I think we had a discussion, the OM&A is actually a reduction, but -- so it's the capital that is really driving the revenue-requirement increase in the application?

MR. JESUS:  I would defer that to Joel Jodoin, in terms of -- for that response, in terms of what is driving it, for the rates.  The rates is being driven largely by the load demand.  So as you know, about 3.8 percent of the total is load.  The rest of it is capital and O&M and all of the other requirements.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Revenue requirement.

MR. JESUS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It is primarily being driven by the capital.

MR. JESUS:  Again, I will let Joel answer that question.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you today brought us to -- Hydro One brought us to the presentation today, and I think it was a rate increase of about 6.2 percent on average over the three years.  That's what I -- with the update that is coming.

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I think it was -- there's a footnote there that it is about a 4.5 percent excluding load.  Is that correct?  Footnote on page 7 of the presentation.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. JESUS:  I believe that the load impact is associated with 3.8 percent.  The rest of it is the revenue requirement.  3.8 percent is load.  So 2.4 percent --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we could maybe bring up the presentation.  The footnote says three-year average transmission rate increase excluding load is 4.5 percent.

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So we agree --


MR. JESUS:  We're agreed.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just to make sure what we're agreeing about, that the three-year rate -- transmission average rate increase excluding load is 4.5 percent?  Correct?

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then the total when we include load is 6.2 percent?

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the 4.5 percent you would agree with me is at least double inflation, correct?

MR. JESUS:  Again, I will let Joel answer that question.  He's in charge of making the rates in terms of what it is with respect to inflation or not.  If it's 2 percent it is more than 2 percent, yeah.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then at 6.2, if it's, say, 2 percent general inflation, it's about three times that.  Correct?

MR. JESUS:  So again, I am going to defer from a rates point of view -- it is better suited to have panel number 2, the finance people, talk about rates.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  I would like to talk about the capital planning process.  If we can go to page 13 of the compendium -- actually, before we do that, just because we're talking about rates, I am just wondering -- this is less a question to the panel.

But if we go to page 11 of the compendium, this is, as I understand it, the most updated version that has the data about rate increases on each year.

I was wondering if this will be -- if there will be an update to this table and, if so, that you'll provide it later, and if so, can do so, so we have more detail than just simply the presentation about the actual rate impacts that you talked about today.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, we can do that.

MR. SPENCER:  That's reasonable.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We will make that Undertaking J1.1. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO PROVIDE AN UPDATE TO PAGE 11 OF THE SEC COMPENDIUM.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you.  If you can go to page 13, primarily because you have a good table where you have the eight different steps of the planning process.  I just want to talk about them to make sure I understand the planning process that you go through.

At a high level, am I correct that the first two stages -- I recognize it is a high level and there is obviously more detail to it -- in the investment planning context and the investment development process, what you are doing is doing a number of things.

First, you are undertaking your asset risk assessment process which looks at the asset conditions, demographics, economics, and other indicators that look at the asset health across the system.  Is that one aspect of that, as I understand?

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You are also looking at customer needs, so directly customer-specific needs of a large TX connected customer, LDC generator, those sort of issues.  Do I understand that as well, that's in those two steps?

MR. JESUS:  In the investment planning context, that is correct.  So we are looking at asset needs, customer needs and what the system requires.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So from that, what you do is you develop, as I understand it, investment candidates.  So planners take a specific number of assets that make up programs, or specific projects that they believe should be completed to address needs that you have identified.  And they develop those candidates to address those needs and risks that you identified.  Do I understand that?

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then part of that is they would create obviously a budget for each of those candidates of what they would cost.  Do I understand that?

MR. JESUS:  They would develop alternatives to address and mitigate the risks that have been identified on the system.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So when a candidate is to do work on station X, for example, they would have to also develop what the budget would be to do that work, correct?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. JESUS:  Can you repeat your question, please?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  So for example, if they have identified a need at a specific station and one of the candidate investments is to do the work to address that need, they would have to develop as well also some idea of what the budget to address that need is, correct?

MR. JESUS:  They would have a planner's estimate of the work required.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Then what you do is at the scoring and calibration step, as I understand it, you take those investments and determine the risk that would be mitigated by undertaking the investment.

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.  Some investments may be a further stage.  So you may have investments that have already gone through the stage gate capital delivery process from an engineering.  So there is different kinds of investments that are being scored at this point in time.  The answer is yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And how you do that, as I understand it at a high level, is you -- for each of the investments, you calculate a risk score based on a probability of a failure-type concept times a consequence of that failure.  Correct?

And then you have what that would look like if you undertake the investment.  Do I understand that?

MR. JESUS:  Yes, that's correct the taxonomies -- planner would assess the probability times the consequence.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we go to page 16 of the compendium, we see, as I understand you had -- so there is 577 candidate investments were entered into the system, correct?  Is that what I am looking at here in this table?  At that stage, you considered 577 investments.

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then what I understand is you use your -- you have an asset management program, I believe it is Copperleaf, and what you take is you take those investments and it prioritizes and optimize that list over the years, based on the reduction of risk versus the cost, as well as if it is a mandatory or non-mandatory investment.  Do I understand that correctly?

MR. JESUS:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then at that stage, you are also overlaying a high-level budgetary constraint, correct?

MR. JESUS:  Sorry, I will turn to it.  Repeat your question, please?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  My understanding is at that stage also, you are overlaying what the budgetary, the overall budgetary constraints would be, correct?

MR. JESUS:  At what point, sorry?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is it at the prioritization optimization, that's the first time you do that?

MR. JESUS:  So the budget constraints would have been done up front during the investment planning context.

That would be informed by the customer engagement surveys, that would be informed by the previous budgets.  They would be informed by the strategic direction of the company, less productivity savings.  That would actually form how we come up with the envelopes.

So the envelopes are not determined at the prioritization and optimization, if that is what your question is.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, no.  I understand it is through the -- what you're talking about the investment context about what that -- what that sort of budgetary envelope that you would place in it.

But is it when you determine the prioritization optimization that you take that budgetary cap or envelope, or however you want to use it, and that is how you determine where the cut off is because you're prioritizing investments.  So you have to know which one is in and out.  Are you doing it at that stage?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. JESUS:  This is the initial prioritization of the investments.  So the investments have been entered into the system and there's an initial prioritization, an initial ranking of those investments.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And is it at that point that you have determined -- have you determined a high level budget -- you have determined a high level budget constraint.  So you know then which is the last project in and the first project out based on that constraint?

MR. JESUS:  So at this point, yes, we would have a high level budget constraint based on again the planning context, which provides the overarching capital envelopes that would have been informed by the capital -- by the customer engagement process, as well as new strategic directions provided by the company.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can we go to page 18?  We asked you a question and you explained the overall budget constraints were included in the investment planning process.  And I don't fully understand the answer, so maybe you can help me with that.

In the first part, you say:
"As described in Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, section 2.1, page 8, the basis for the up front allocation was based on the expenditure level included in the prior year's plan, adjusted for efficiency gains and new strategic direction as presented in figure 5, which was informed by feedback received through a customer engagement process."


And if we go to page 12 of the compendium, there is that figure that you are specifically referencing.

So maybe you could help me, if you can explain what you mean, if you can just walk me through the figure there.

MR. JESUS:  So if we can turn to OEB interrogatory I-01-OEB-019.  section B, it describes how the capital envelopes are determined.

Again, the initial allocation is the expenditure in previous years, in prior plan less efficiency gains and new strategic direction.  The overall investment envelope and year-over-year pacing of investments is also informed by the feedback received through the customer engagement process.

The plan is then developed further and reviewed and approved by executive leadership.

The customer engagement also selected option C, which was to the tune of $6.6 billion, and the pacing of investments was largely, in fact overwhelmingly, 74 out of 103 respondents selected option C, which helped to inform what the overarching capital envelope was.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand.  But if we go back to SEC 29, the first thing you talk about is you talk about -- you direct us to a specific figure that I provided on page 12, and I don't fully understand.  Can you help me understand what this figure is showing?

MR. JESUS:  Sure.  Okay.  So if we go back to the figure --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  On page 12 of my compendium.

MR. JESUS:  -- you start off from the previous plan, which is the first box.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Maybe I could just stop you there.  That's -- by "previous plan" you don't mean the Board-approved amount.  Correct?  They didn't approve your previous plan.

MR. JESUS:  The previous plan that was before the Ontario Energy Board would have been used in this case.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So not -- and maybe this is my confusion.  It's not what the Board actually approved?  They made reductions to your previous plan.

MR. JESUS:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So in this --


MR. JESUS:  Which would have been associated with those reductions, taking into account the DRO reductions would have helped to inform what those budgets would be.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So when I look at this figure and I see the previous plan, then I see efficiency gains, which I guess is supposed to show that it is reducing the previous plan. and the new strategic investment I guess brings it up to the 2019-2024 plan.  That's how I am looking at this?

MR. JESUS:  So it's an initial allocation.  It is a starting point that again is informed, as I indicated a number of times, through the customer engagement, through the asset needs, et cetera, et cetera.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand.  But just so when I see, it says "previous plan", then you look at, at least on the figure, which makes it look like the 2019 to 2024 plan is lower, that's comparing it to not what the Board ended up approving, just what you presented.  Correct?

MR. JESUS:  Potentially.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What do you mean, "potentially"?

MR. JESUS:  So the previous plan, there is no numbers on this, right?  It is just for illustrative purposes, is what it is trying to show you.  You start off with your previous plan.   You incorporate productivity savings.  You incorporate the new strategic direction that has been provided.  You align your outcomes and you come up with a plan that also takes into account the system needs, the asset needs, as well as the customer engagement.  And you end up with a 2019 to '24.  It is purely illustrative only.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so the second part of what you said, and it is also reflected in SEC 29, is -- and you talked about this -- is the customer engagement part where -- you talked about in your presentation as well, that based on the results of that, the scenario C was the most favoured scenario.  And that brings you to an annual capital amount of about what you are asking for.  Correct?

MR. JESUS:  Yes.  The customer engagement did indicate that scenario C with an expenditure of $6.6 billion was overwhelmingly the scenario that our customers chose.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that is 1.3 million a year, which is -- it is about what you are asking for in this application, correct?

MR. JESUS:  It is consistent, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Then I understand, if we can go back maybe then to page 13 of the compendium.  I understand as we move to the enterprise engagement stage, that's where you update the plan for any new information or new requirements that have come up since you did the initial prioritization?

MR. JESUS:  So, no.  The updating of the plan and the challenge sessions are taking place in the prioritization and optimization.

So we're engaging the enterprise at that point in time.  And we're looking at the trade-offs that need to occur on investments during the investment optimization and prioritization.

So challenge sessions are being held across the enterprise to look at investments that are on the margin, that potentially could be -- that have not been funded that should be funded.  So we need to look at the risk and whether or not they should in fact be incorporated because we cannot tolerate that risk.

The enterprise engagement is all about from an execution point of view, do we have the resources, can we get the outages, we're looking at it from an execution perspective.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So when I look at page -- table again on page 16 from SEC 27, you have increased the amount of investments that you are going to be able to do.  Is that a fair...

MR. JESUS:  So at that point in time we're also updating the investment plan to take into account the current information.

So projects that are currently in execution, the current estimates and what the plan is seeing would also be taken into account at that point in time.

So it's reflecting the plan at that point, whatever circumstances are there, and whatever emerging circumstances have taken place is being updated, and that's why you are seeing the change in the numbers.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Then the last stage is the final plan and approval step.  Correct?  That's the next step?

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And what we see is actually you're adding more investments.  If we go back to page 27, you move to 541 to 563.

MR. JESUS:  That's again because of new developments, new requests from the IESO would have come in.  We would have had new demand failures would have been incorporated.

So the plan would have been updated, and that is why you're seeing a change in the numbers.  This is an evolving plan up until it gets final approval.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if we go to page 17 we see the same chart but with the dollar amount.  Do you see that?

MR. JESUS:  I'm sorry, where are you taking me, Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry.  Page 17 of the compendium.

MR. JESUS:  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  SEC 28.  This is the same table, but essentially with the dollar amounts, not the number of projects, right?  That's what --


MR. JESUS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And what we see is that in the final plan review approval stage you have added the progressive productivity amount?

MR. JESUS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you have also added the government directive with respect to certain compensation items that you have removed.

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so if we don't include the productivity amounts, and what you have done between the enterprise engagement phase and the development of the plan approval is an increase of about $394 million of investments.

MR. JESUS:  Sorry, why wouldn't we take into account the productivity improvement?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me ask my question.  If we don't include it, just looking at the math, you have added 394 million in investments.

MR. JESUS:  Actually, we have gone from 7.6 billion to 6.6.  So we have actually reduced it by 13 percent.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  From the enterprise engagement stage to the final approval stage.  I am just talking about that step there.

MR. JESUS:  It went up.  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if you don't include the progressive productivity placeholder, you have added about $394 million in investments between the enterprise and the plan approval.

MR. JESUS:  It would have been added to incorporate the latest and greatest forecasts that are currently in execution and all of the new developments that are occurring.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is it also because -- well, because now you have added the progressive productivity amount, you now have more -- the high level budget envelope is the same.  There is now more room to do more work.  Is that part of it?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SPENCER:  So through the planning process and towards these final stages we're alluding to here in the SEC 28 table, what you see in the progressive productivity placeholder is in fact a thing we've referenced repeatedly throughout the evidence.

But we had to make a choice around continuing with the volume of work we felt was necessary and prudent to maintain reliability and safety outcomes, in accordance with the planning process we just stepped through.

But we knew that we couldn't do it at the sacrifice of deferring work or eliminating work.  So we made this forward looking productivity commitment, admittedly without all of the answers on how we would achieve that.  But we made that commitment, embedded that into our plan which has a reduced impact on capital and, as you flow it through, to in-service additions and revenue requirement has a customer benefit within the plan period.

So that progressive productivity placeholder is in fact our realization that the plan, as defined through the planning process, was necessary to mitigate risk, but ensuring that we're doing our part to stretch for additional capital productivity as part of our plan execution.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So is that a yes?  You decided to do more work -- once you had the productivity placeholder amount, you decided, well, we can do more work because we're embedding that amount, or we're forecasting that sort of amount of productivity.  Is that a yes?  I think it is, but I am not clear.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SPENCER:  A subtle clarification to your order of operations.  We actually defined the necessary work, if you will, and used the best information available to define the level of expenditure for that work.

And then towards the end of the planning process, that's when we made and firmed up the productivity commitments.  It was not we found the productivity and increased the expenditure.  It was actually the other way around, where we had defined the work program and then made the forward looking commitment on the productivity to ensure we could complete the necessary volume of work.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So what I see on this table is an increase from enterprise to developing the plan -- it may just be how the table is set up here, but I see about 6.5 billion at enterprise.  And then I see an additional about a hundred million.

But then, as I alluded to before, you have added for the first time the 286 productivity.

So that is an increase, a significant increase you don't include the productivity amount at that stage of about, as I was saying before, over $380 million.

I just want to understand this.  At this point, did you determine, well, now we have firmed up the productivity amount.  We can do more work staying within the initial budget envelope.  Is that how it worked?

MR. JESUS:  So we've made a commitment to be able to deliver more work that incorporates the productivity.

So that commitment is there.  That productivity was there all along, from the beginning of the process.

The reality is we were waiting for finalized numbers till final approval.  So the numbers were always available.  We have an ongoing -- as evidenced, we have a proper productivity governance framework where the numbers are there.  We were just waiting until they were solidified, if you will, until that final stage.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you had a decision to make, I guess, Hydro One.  You have determined that there's $286 million in productivity, defined and undefined, that are in your plan.

You can do more work for that $286 million, or you could essentially lower the ask by 286 million.  But you have determined that you would do more work.  Do I take that?

MR. JESUS:  As you can see from your exhibit SEC 28, there's close to 7.6 billion dollars' worth of risk that we need to -- projects that we need to carry out, and the prioritization landed on the 6.6 billion.

So, yes, we are taking rates into account and we're landing on 6.6 billion because there's a lot of work, a lot of risk that is out on the system.

So the reality is that the productivity is being leveraged to deliver more work.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we could turn to page 19, we asked you in this interrogatory where do rate impacts play in the planning process, essentially.

You provided three examples.  The first is in the planning context, where you say:
"Rate impacts are considered as part of the overall envelope setting process informed by customer engagement, feedback risk, consideration of the assets and system needs."


Just stopping there for a second, I have a question about that.  Are you talking about in the customer engagement when you did the trade-off analysis and they picked scenario C, there was a rate impact that you had forecasted involved in that.  Is that what you are talking about there?

MR. JESUS:  So the rate impacts that were provided in the customer engagement were provided consistent with the four scenarios that we had provided to our customers in the survey.

They are provided -- the rate impacts are considered up front in the investment planning process, as well as through the risk prioritization and optimization of the investments.

So at the end of the day, they're being reviewed all along the entire process.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My question was a little bit more specific, and it is with respect to the first bullet point where you were talking about it at the investment planning context stage.

You provide this -- the words after that, I just wanted to understand if what you were really talking about is that in the customer engagement process when the customers picked scenario C, there was a rate impact that was included as part of the various scenarios.

Is that what you mean, how it was considered at the investment planning context?

MR. JESUS:  So the rate impacts was one -- it was part of the scenarios, so yes.

They also -- the majority of customers looked at the investment levels with respect to the pacing of the investments. So how quickly are we addressing the system needs, would take into account effectively the rates.

So the more work that you are doing, obviously the more impact you are going to have on rates.

And they overwhelmingly picked option C by 74 out of 103, which is a three-to-one margin, and they saw that as being reflective of the system because the system served them well, and there was a less risky option.

So in the end, they said themselves that it was a less risky option.  They prefer investments in line with the previous 2017-2018 proceeding.

So yes, it impacts rates based on the pacing of the investments, based on the overall envelope which was put forth to our customers, and they overwhelmingly picked the option C, which is consistent with the TSP before this Board.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just so I understand, the customer engagement information with respect to your transmission customers, LDCs, and I think generators, correct?

MR. JESUS:  So there were 103 out of 156 respondents that included LDCs, generators, and large direct industrial customers.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Am I correct that I think about 92 percent of your revenue requirement is collected from LDCs?

MR. JESUS:  I don't know.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  SEC 12.  It is not in my compendium, but that is -- does that sound about right to you?

MR. KEIZER:  That may be best addressed to panel 2.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, you would agree with me that most of your revenue requirement is from LDCs.  Do you know that?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. JESUS:  So revenue requirement was not part of the customer engagement; we don't monitor that.  It was an anonymous survey.  But most of our revenue is from LDCs and direct industrial customers.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you must know, you must have to know, that most of the revenue, most of the load, is from LDCs?

MR. JESUS:  I would agree with that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You would agree with me that, just so I am sure, just so I understand, the transmission portion of your rates, LDCs pass on directly to their end-use customers.  They don't pay.  Right?

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I don't know if this is a good time for a break.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Thank you.  We will take a break.  We will be back at 11:35.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 11:15 a.m.
--- On resuming at  11:40 a.m.

DR. ELSAYED:  Please be seated.  Before we continue, Dr. Dodds has a question for the panel.

DR. DODDS:  In your presentation there, you mentioned that one of the reasons for the increase in the revenue requirement is the impact of load forecast change.

You mentioned 3.8 percent in 2020, then .6 and .6, I believe, or .6 and.7.

What is driving that, what is driving the reduction in the revenue requirement, conservation, loss of customers?

MR. KEIZER:  Just maybe if I could help you, Mr. Dodds.  We do have coming on panel 4 the load forecasting expert for Hydro One, who will be able to take you through the elements of the load forecast and the derivation of it, and what's driving the forecast in a particular direction.

DR. DODDS:  Okay, thank you.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay, thank you.  Mr. Rubenstein, please continue.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much, panel.  I would like to talk about customer engagement and what you drew from that customer engagement, and we had some discussion about that this morning.

As you discussed, Mr. Jesus, Scenario C was the chosen one from the scenarios that were provided in the customer engagement process, and that averaged about $1.3 billion a year in capital, which is consistent with your plan, correct?

MR. JESUS:  Option C was the $6.6 billion, which is consistent, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I know there is a panel will talk about the methodology of the customer engagement, but I would assume that the inputs to the customer engagement, the scenarios, came from the planning group?  You had some input into that?

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.  We supported the initiative.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we can turn to page 28 of the compendium; this is from the Innovative report.  But this is, as I understand it, the scenarios that were presented to customers, correct?

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And for Scenario, C it says "maintain current level investment", correct?  Do you do you see that column?

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In fairness, as I understand the language in the work book actually -- and you can see this on page 26 -- what you actually put to customers it is called "Maintain current level of investment", but you said was it extends investment plan in rate application currently before the Ontario Energy Board to 2023, correct?

MR. JESUS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that is what you meant by -- or the engagement meant by maintain current level of investment?

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But as we know, in the 2017-2018 decision, I'm correct that the Board did not accept your investment plan.

MR. JESUS:  The Board ruled on 2017 and 2018.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And they reduced your capital plan from what was requested?

MR. JESUS:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as we know, the 6.6 over five years, it's about 1.3 billion a year, correct, scenario C?

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And we know that in the 2017-2018 decision, they didn't approve anything like an average of $1.3 billion in 2017 and 2018, correct?

MR. JESUS:  They approved 2017 and 2018 for 950 and a billion dollars.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that is less than 1.3 billion?

MR. JESUS:  Yes, it is.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So ultimately, what we know now is that scenario C does not maintain the current level of investment.

MR. JESUS:  The current plan before the Board for the five-year plan is $6.6 billion, which is consistent with scenario C.

The rates that have been produced, 5.1 percent without load, the rates you heard today are actually 4.5 percent without load.  So we're actually delivering better.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand specifically with respect to -- because when you use the term maintain current level investment, you were talking about what was presented before the Board in 2017 and 2018 as the plan.  And we know because the Board didn't accept that investment plan and reduced your amount, you're actually not -- this investment C does not actually maintain the current level, actual current level of investment.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. JESUS:  So the -- just so we're clear, the transmission customer engagement plan was presented to customers to try to better understand their priorities and to understand the level of investment that they would be interested in, in terms of the deliverables and outcomes that would proceed.

So this was intended to initiate dialogue with customers.  There were illustrative scenarios, and they were intended to initiate that conversation with our customers.

At no time did we have an investment plan that was cast in stone.  These were merely intended to understand, given the cost and the rates and the outcome for reliability, what were the customer's priorities.

So just so we understand, the customer engagement was produced in 2017.  A year later, we delivered the transmission system plan that is before you right now that incorporated that feedback, that incorporated the priorities, that incorporated their level of investment, that incorporated their pacing requirements.

This is what is currently before the Board.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand.  But my question was, when the customer engagement went out, you -- when you described maintain current level investment as scenario C, that is the title of the scenario, it was based on extending the investment plan in a rate application currently before the Ontario Energy Board.  That was what maintaining the current level investment was at the time.

Now we know the Board reduced the 2017, the plan that you had before the Ontario Energy Board.  So is it fair to say that when we use the term maintain, it is not actually maintaining the current level of investment, from what we know now?

MR. JESUS:  So just to clarify again, the majority of customers preferred investment levels in line with the investment plan that was before the OEB in 2017-2018, prior to the cuts, because the decision that came from the DRO came after the fact.

So we were presenting a 2017-2018 plan that was -- that was before the decision in the DRO came down from the Ontario Energy Board.  It was in line with the investment plan that was presented at that point in time and the customers said, yeah, we like this plan and the investment levels that you are proposing and the outcomes that you are going to get.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we look at the next line, we see the five-year capital investment amount -- sorry, I am back at page 28.  We see the 6.6 billion and then in the line after that, we have reliability risk.  Do you see that line?

MR. JESUS:  I'm sorry.  Can you...

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The second line is reliability risk after the --


MR. JESUS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Do you see that?  Can you describe what reliability risk is?

MR. JESUS:  So reliability risk is articulated, exactly what it is can be found on TSP1.3, attachment 4.  Are we -- can we go to the exhibit?  Sorry.

So in this exhibit we identify and we basically describe what reliability risk is.

And in this approach it is a simplified approach to directionally identify reliability impacts.  It is a simplified approach that takes into account the hazard curves of assets, the age of the assets, their failure rates, and what the potential impact on reliability is.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You would agree with me that the concept of reliability risk was much talked about in the '17-'18 proceeding?

MR. JESUS:  Yes, I would agree with you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my recollection -- sorry, and my understanding that the reliability risk model that you are utilizing to come up with the numbers for these scenarios is the same one that was before the Board in the last case, correct?

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.  But the reliability risk in the decision from the Board came after that we went to the customers with this customer engagement survey.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand that.  But you made no enhancements to the reliability risk model between what was presented before the Board in the proceeding and the customer engagement.

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And in the previous Board decision, the Board had critical comments with respect to the reliability risk.  Is that a fair assessment?

MR. JESUS:  Their assessment was that we should investigate models to be able to forecast reliability risk. As I have indicated, it is a simplified version for directionally calculating what risks would be on the system, and it provides a directional nature, in terms of what reliability would be.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can go to page 41 of the compendium, this is from that Board decision.

If we can go down behind -- this is in the Board's finding section -- we go down to right after the bullet points, it says:

"Regarding RRM", which is risk reliability model, "the OEB finds that the model needs further refinement and testing to be used to convey customer information about the value of capital investments in terms of system reliability.  As expected, the IPSOS-Reid report indicated that customers expected to see improvement in actual reliability performance, not necessarily only a reduced reliability risk for the proposed level of investment.  Based on the above-noted shortcomings of both the customer engagement process and the RRM, the OEB does not place significant weight on the evidence associated with these elements and therefore will not rely on the outcome as reported from Hydro One as compelling evidence of customer support for the proposed level of capital expenditures."

There's a number of things there.  But one of the reasons is, I take it that the Board had issues with the customer engagement in the last proceeding, was the use of the risk reliability model in the customer engagement.  Is that fair?

MR. JESUS:  I think it is clear what the OEB said.  I am not going to -- it is articulated what the OEB decided.

Again, the reliability risk model is intended to initiate those conversations with our customers, to directionally provide what the reliability impacts would be, so that we can identify what their priorities would be.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And it is my understanding as well you retained as part of your work at your asset analytics, Metsco also reviewed the risk reliability model.  Correct?

MR. JESUS:  They reviewed it, yes, but in a very simplified approach.  They did not go into depth in this Reliability Risk Model, because we are no longer using it, and throughout the evidence we based our decisions on asset condition assessments.  This reliability risk model has no bearing whatsoever on the investment decisions before this Board.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But when customers -- obviously when you did the customer engagement information, the reliability risk was before them?  You provided that as what the risk reliability output would be for each of the investment scenarios, correct?

MR. JESUS:  For the purpose of communicating with our customers and to engage with them on identifying their priorities.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then when the Board decision came out commenting on using the risk reliability, did you consider going back to your customers?

MR. JESUS:  No, we did not.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And when the Board determined that they were going to reduce the capital envelope that you had -- from the plan that you put before that Board, did you consider going back to your customers for the customer engagement?

MR. JESUS:  So we did not go back to our customers.  We did this customer engagement back in 2017.  And we did not go back to our customers.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand.  Did you consider going back to your customers?

MR. JESUS:  I don't know.  You will have to ask Mr. Spencer Gill.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Then if we can go back to the table on page 28, you also talk about long-term reliability impact.  You have arrows that go up or down.

Is that based on any modelling or is that simply your judgment on what the reliability impact of the various investments plan?

MR. JESUS:  It was based on our assessment, our judgment of directionally how long-term reliability would be impacted by the investment levels being proposed.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So it is your judgment.

MR. JESUS:  In our judgment.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As I understand, one of goals of the plan as a whole is to get reliability back to the top quartile.  Do I have that correct?

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we go to Staff 83, which is page 29 of the compendium, you say at part A:

"The objective is to return to top-quartile reliability, which includes managing the condition of assets and reliability performance for their functionality."

Correct?

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you were asked at part E of that interrogatory:

"Given that cost concerns are the biggest issue for most ratepayers, how did Hydro One determine that a top-quartile performance target is appropriate for such a large system covering such a range of load densities, geographies, and climatic regions."

Do you see that?  Do you see the question?

MR. JESUS:  Yes, I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we go to the response, your response was:

"Cost was not the biggest issue raised through the customer engagement process."

Then you point us to a part of the evidence which I actually think is the same -- much of what you provided in the presentation today, in that reliability is the top concern, not costs, correct?  That is what you got out of the customer engagement?

MR. JESUS:  So if I can direct you to I-01-OEB-039, please.  Okay.  So we're talking about cost being an outcome.  So cost is -- in part A it says in the second sentence:

"Cost is a certain outcome of any investment, so its relative ranking was determined to be less informative as a stand-alone outcome.  So cost was not a priority for the customers.  It was not identified as a priority for these customers.  Rather, customers were provided an opportunity to indicate the importance of costs relative to the outcomes through four illustrative scenarios."

And then if we continue on, if we go down the page.  "In the end".  Continue down further, please.  Okay.  Sorry, second paragraph, third paragraph.

So indirectly we got from the customers regarding productivity they were -- customers specifically were asked about productivity:  How important is it for productivity for Hydro One?  How big a priority is that for you?  And productivity savings ranked second to last.  So in the end customer -- the cost is an inevitable outcome.  What we were trying to do is identify what their priorities were.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I think on page 14 of the presentation that you actually have pulled the reproduction of what's in that report about the various outcomes, and what you are talking about.

But as I understood from the evidence, Hydro One took reliability, being the top priority of customers and cost not being number one at least.  Is that correct?

MR. JESUS:  That's not correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's not correct?

MR. JESUS:  No.  Safety was the number one priority, then reliability.  And then at the end was productivity, and then environment.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So safety first, reliability is second.

MR. JESUS:  If you want the exact priorities --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Go to page 14 -- maybe so we're on the same page, page 14 of today's presentation, K1.1.

MR. JESUS:  Sure.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, 14 of the presentation.  So that's what you're speaking to, correct?

MR. JESUS:  Yes.  That's correct.  Safety was number one, reliability was number two.  Frequency was most important.  And productivity near down the bottom, in terms of customer priorities.

Customers are more interested in making sure that the system that we have that has served them well is less risky, that it continues to deliver the functionality that they have been used to.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, I want to understand this. Imagine a scenario where actually the feedback you got from the customer engagement was: cost, rates, price was the number one priority for customers, or number two after safety, for example.  It was a top priority.  It ranked above reliability.  How would the plan look?

MR. KEIZER:  But that's not the plan that is before the Board.  The customer engagement process was the one conducted in the nuances and aspects of customer engagement can be spoken to by the panel that will deal with that.

But ultimately, the panel before the Board, the plan before Hydro One and before the Board related to this customer engagement is what it is, in terms of reliability and the incorporation of that into the plan.

I don't think it is fair to put forward an imaginary customer engagement process and say, okay, redo the plan.  So I think it is unfair to request that.

DR. ELSAYED:  Maybe I will ask the question a different way.  Where does cost fit into this picture?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. JESUS:  So in the compendium in the slide, page 28, you will see that the cost is identified there for option C at $6.6 billion and the associated rate impacts of 5.1 percent without the load, and a total annual bill impact of 0.42 percent.

So the costs were identified to the customers in terms of the scenarios that were presented to them.

DR. ELSAYED:  No, I understand they were identified to the customers.  But did it not come up as one of the priorities for the customers?

MR. JESUS:  It did not.

DR. ELSAYED:  It did not, okay.  Please go ahead.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I still want to have -- to Mr. Keizer's point, I think it is entirely fair for me to 
ask -- I am not asking for them to rerun the application to give a directional sense of how they would have changed their thinking process, so the Board understands, first of all -- ultimately, if it comes out in a future panel and my friends -- cost is more important, how that would have changed and also to understand the thought process of how they developed the plan.

I think it is totally an appropriate question to put to the panel.

MR. KEIZER:  The point is that the evidence -- it was not seen as a preference.  So now to superimpose it and say let's suppose it was a preference, what would you do differently, I think is just -- it's a hypothetical that is not even grounded in the evidence.

So I just think it is still an unfair question for the panel to be asked.

DR. ELSAYED:  I think it is a fair position to take.  Given my question, the answer to my question, if it did not come up at all, that would be then a hypothetical scenario, which I can imagine is not really that easy to respond to.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I would like to talk about productivity and this is for you, Mr. Spencer.  If we could turn to page 83 of the compendium, you've provided a helpful table in the evidence to outline the productivity that you have included in the evidence.

I just want to walk through the table and you can tell me if I am understanding this correctly.

As I see it, there are two categories of savings that make up the 704 million that you have under grand total, total, and that's for the five-year period.

And as I understand it -- if we start with the capital portion of that table, as I understand it, what you're saying in this table is that you have $65 million in 2020 of what you call defined savings, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  The 65 includes a sub portion of which is our defined element of the progressive productivity, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, there's two parts to that.  One is under operations and corporate, you have amounts that you have built in which relate to previous productivity initiatives that have a continuing impact into 2020 and 2021 and the future.

MR. SPENCER:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So it is a defined amount in the sort of normal use of the term.  And then the second element is the progressive operations defined, which I take it to mean -- which as I understand your evidence, is initiatives that you have identified that either haven't begun yet or that they're beginning in 2019, but you haven't verified the results of those.

Those are what you call defined savings under the progressive productivity label.  Is that fair?

MR. SPENCER:  Notionally, that's correct and they are detailed in undertaking JT 1.9.  We don't need to go there, but if you are looking for additional specifics of those, they are already on the record.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Then the second group for productivity with respect to capital is you have -- and you see this in the last row at the bottom -- under progressive productivity, you have progressive operations undefined capital, correct?  Do you see $11 million in 2020?

MR. SPENCER:  Correct, I see it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In 2021, there's an incremental $16 million on top of that to 27 million, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  It grows through the plan period, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As I understand it, what those represent is amounts you built in, but you haven't determined or you haven't -- it hasn't gone through the thought process enough along, but you built into the plan that you are expecting or you are going to try to achieve.  Correct?

MR. SPENCER:  They are a forward-looking commitment for which the capital expenditure and ultimately revenue requirement has been removed from the test year period, yes.

We're still under going an ongoing process to find the Bottoms-up specific initiatives to help us achieve this forward-looking commitment.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  How did you determine 11 million in 2020, 27 million in 2021, 49 million in 2022?

MR. SPENCER:  As per the evidence, the objective was really a 10-year productivity gain over the plan period.  And, you know, the one to 3 percent represents pacing, taking into account our, you know, requirement to stand up a new governance model, build some momentum. So there is a ramp throughout the plan period.

But generally it was 10 percent over the five years, with a 1 to 3 percent per year typical.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Ten percent of what?

MR. SPENCER:  Ten percent of our capital expenditure.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Over a 10-year period?

MR. SPENCER:  No.  I believe it was a five-year period, not a ten.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So the 237 million, which is the grand total over that 2020-2024, should approximate ten percent of the capital plan over those five years?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  So that's the reason why it is eleven million in 2020, and not nine million or 13 million?  They're very specific numbers.  That is why I am asking.

MR. SPENCER:  It was an allocation based on what we felt was necessary and achievable throughout the years, the test years and ultimately the plan years. 

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as we see, there is a 286 million in what is the total for the five years for what is progressive productivity.  Correct?  So that is the defined progressive and undefined progressive, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  I see that, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as we discussed previously in a previous panel -- or, sorry, a previous exchange, what you did was -- we saw this in a chart -- you built that into your capital plan and the work you were going to execute, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But what you didn't decide to do was simply reduce the request by the 286 million, or at least the '20 to '22 version of it.  You were going to do more work for that?

MR. SPENCER:  We committed to completing the necessary identified work and not reducing or deferring, but instead to amend the productivity commitment.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, what happens if you are unable to meet the productivity savings?  So in 2020, for example, instead of finding 11 million for progressive undefined amount, you end up with 1 million.  So $10 million less.

Will your actual total capital expenditures at the end of 2020 be $10 million higher?  Or will you reduce the amount of capital work to meet the budget?

MR. SPENCER:  We're committing to achieving these productivity savings, and we have a governance model in place.  We're tracking them on a regular basis throughout the year.  And we have every reason to believe we will be able to hit these productivity commitments.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  But assume you aren't.  These are undefined amounts.  I am just trying to understand what's going to happen if you can't meet it.  You try your hardest and you are unable to meet it for whatever reason.  They don't materialize.

Are you going to reduce the amount of capital work to stay within the overall achieved budget or are you going to overspend to complete the capital work?

MR. SPENCER:  We would stay within the overall capital envelope.  We are bearing the risk of achieving these productivity savings, as opposed to customers.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, how are you bearing the risk if you are simply just going to reduce the capital work and do less work if ultimately you don't need it?

MR. SPENCER:  Maybe I should -- perhaps I mischaracterized.  Our intention is to complete the entire volume of work identified in the investment plan.

We are confident in our ability to achieve these productivity savings.  However, in the event we did not fully achieve them we would continue on completing the work at -- the necessary work at the required cost to mitigate the risks identified in our investment plan.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So using my example of only, say, getting $10 million -- or, sorry, getting only $1 million of savings in 2020 that you actually achieve, then I take it you will spend $10 million, the actuals would be $10 million over the approval?  You're saying you're going to do the amount of work regardless; is that right?

MR. SPENCER:  That would be correct.  And I guess continuing through with this hypothetical, that level of reporting detail would be defined in our future reports to the Board around accomplishment of our capital portfolio.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So in 2023 when you come back to the Board, that $10 million, are you going to seek to add that to rate base?  Or are -- is that a shareholder risk that's going to take, and it's not going to be recoverable from ratepayers?

MR. SPENCER:  It's a commitment we are reflecting into our plan.  We have the aspiration and the framework to achieve these savings.

So if we did not achieve them, that would be on the company, not on customers.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It's going to be on the company between 2020 and 2022?  Or it's going to be on the company for the life of what that in-service addition amount would be reflected in the 10 million?  Because there is a difference.  I recognize between 2021 and '22 you will have an approved amount.  So you can't get recovery for the additional amounts.

But in 2023 when you close to rate base and your rate base is -- would be $10 million higher, are you going to request that extra 10 million or not?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SPENCER:  Sorry, if I reiterate, but we are committed to in fact achieving these forward-looking productivity commitments.  In the event that we don't, I don't see how we would seek cost recovery of those.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Now, as I understand in a previous Board decision you were directed in the '17-'18 decision -- you were directed to undertake an independent third-party assessment of your transmission system planning process, correct?  The investment planning process?  Do I have that correct?

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I think you talked about this in your -- in the presentation this morning, Mr. Jesus, that you retained Boston Consulting Group and that they said that you were a -- they had positive views of your investment planning process.  Correct?

MR. JESUS:  Great news about our investment plan.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It was favourable to the company?

MR. JESUS:  It was favourable.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand, there was no RFP for the BCG work, correct?

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand over the last number of years Hydro One has worked closely with the Boston Consulting Group?  Do I have that correct?

MR. JESUS:  We've worked with Boston Consulting.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, as I understand, they were part of what was discussed in the DX decision and previously about part of what Hydro One calls the good to great program?

MR. JESUS:  They were part of that program, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand what that program at a high level was is they worked with Hydro One to identify areas of improvement company-wide and take the company to the next steps post-IPO to a more commercial company?  They were part of the process that this good to great program was part of -- or was attempting to do?  Do I have that right?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. JESUS:  Yes, we had retained Boston Consulting to help us with the good to great initiatives to drive continuous improvement in the business.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we go to page -- well, so -- and does that -- that includes the planning process, correct?

MR. JESUS:  No, it does not.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  They had no part in helping with your planning process?

MR. JESUS:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  So if we go to page 51 --


MR. JESUS:  I misspoke.  They were managing -- at one point in time they were managing the rate filing that was before -- during the last Board.  So they were helping to manage that, the rate filing in '17 and '18.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, just to be clear what I meant, I didn't mean that they were part of the current planning process, but part of when they were helping Hydro One review the entire company and all of the various issues, that included the planning process as well as many other aspects.  Correct?

MR. JESUS:  Honestly, I don't know enough about that engagement, because we were not privy to that information. It was fairly senior levels that were involved in those initiatives.  They were involved in looking for continuous improvement opportunities across the entire enterprise.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can go to page 51 of the compendium, this is the retainer letter or proposal.  Correct?  That is what we're looking at here?

MR. JESUS:  Sorry, page 51?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. JESUS:  Yes, it is.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What we see in this is, where they're talking about the context, under context of this effort, we see in the last paragraph they recognize:

"This report is a key deliverable for the upcoming 2019-2023 rate filing, and will likely be crucial to Hydro's ability to secure additional capital system development and renewal in the coming years."

And that's correct?  A positive report is obviously going to help you in this application.

MR. JESUS:  We contracted them as a third-party independent reviewer of the investment planning process.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  We see in the next paragraph:

"Prior to the OEB decision Hydro One had recognized some of the challenges it faced in investment planning and conducted an internal assessment of its existing processes with the help of the BCG team as part of the good to great program."

Do you see that?

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Back to what we were discussing before, they were helping you identify issues with the planning process, investment planning process, at that time.

MR. JESUS:  They were looking at the planning in general at that point in time, but at a very high level.  A I indicated also, that there was a case manager assigned to the 2017-2018 filing.  That was it.

But they were looking at continuous improvement initiatives and opportunities across the entire enterprise, and BCG was in the company, yes.  They were helping us.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Then we see in the next paragraph, I think it is the second sentence:
"We believe BCG is uniquely qualified in support of these efforts given the depth of our experience in utility capital planning and our intimate knowledge of hydro and planning process, given our involvement in the Good to Great program, and recently provided project management support of the 2019-2023 rate filing."


You talked about the transmission rate filing part.  But there, they think they're going to do a good job because they were part of -- they understand your planning process because of their involvement in that Good to Great program, correct?

MR. JESUS:  I wouldn't characterize it that way, no. I think I would characterize it as BCG has a lot of experience in capital planning across the world.  They've done 2,500 energy cases.  The fact that they were helping us with continuous improvement and they were on the ground with us is why we ultimately selected them.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the company you retained to review your investment planning process is the same company that helped you identify some of those issues as part of the Good to Great program?

MR. JESUS:  Yes, it was.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I get that they're a third party, but how is that independent?  Aren't they grading part of their own work?  They helped you identify some of the issues.  Obviously if there were more, that would be a problem, correct?  They did do their -- worked for you in the Good to Great program.

MR. JESUS:  They didn't help us with the development of the investment planning process.  They reviewed the process that we -- we used a different consultant to help us with the development of that process, and they were reviewing that work.

So the development of the improved 8-step investment planning process, BCG had nothing to do with it.

The part of the Good to Great and continuous improvement was, as well as the direction provided by this Board during the last rate filing, is that we needed to improve the process.  And we did.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But they were part of helping you identify the issues in the planning process that you later improved, correct?

MR. JESUS:  Yes, they identified the high level issues, and then we took it to the next level.  They were not involved in taking it to the next level.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But if they found more issues in their independent review, things they had not identified in the first go-round when they were involved in the planning process, in essence they would be grading their own work, correct?

MR. JESUS:  No, I disagree.  That is not the case at all. This was at a high level.  This engagement occurred, I don't know --


[Witness panel confers]

MR. JESUS:  The engagement was in 2015-2016, way, way earlier than the development of this business plan and the review of this process.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding is that over the past five years, the total amount that Hydro One has paid to BCG., for just work related to the transmission or allocated to the transmission, was $6.7 million.  Do I have that correct?

MR. JESUS:  I don't know.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If you go to page 50, this is your response to part C.  The total cost of transmission work performed by BCG over the past five years is approximately 6.7 million.

MR. JESUS:  Agreed.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can turn to page 64 of the compendium, what we asked you in this table and then it got a little updated in the undertaking, was essentially a similar table that was provided and that you filled out in the last proceeding.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, Mr. Chair.  Just if I could raise a question with respect to the last couple of questions that Mr. Rubenstein had raised, particularly with respect to page 50 of this compendium.  Just to be sure of this, but he made reference to the -- this was just noted to me and I just wanted to confirm it, is that in part C when he made reference to the five years approximately then he had a dollar number.  I am not sure if that is a redacted number or not.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My understanding is the Board's confidentiality ruling was this is a number that would not be -- this was provided --


MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, no.  Someone pointed to me it was redacted on the screen here that we were looking at, and I just wanted to make sure we were good.  Sorry about that, Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Don't give me a heart attack.

[Laughter]

MR. KEIZER:  Me as well.  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein, sorry about that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Okay.

DR. ELSAYED:  That is correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if we can go back to page 64 of the compendium, we had essentially asked you to fill out a table, it was an amended version in the undertaking stage.

And what it does is shows for the major asset classes that you have the number of replacements you were going to -- that were provided in the last proceeding at the DRO stage, or certain information you could provide at the DRO stage, and then the forecast for 2019, the actuals and the forecast.

Do you see that on this table?  At a high level, that is what this table is showing?

MS. JABLONSKY:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So we have -- in the first set of columns, we have the actuals and forecast provided in the last proceeding in the EB-2016-0160 case.  Correct?

MS. JABLONSKY:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Then the second stage, we have the numbers that are at the DRO stage.  And you have a footnote that says essentially -- just to make sure we're all clear about what this table shows, that in footnote 2 star the revised units were not forecast as part of the DRO stage.

MS. JABLONSKY:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Although I do notice in some cases you have revised them, so I am not entirely clear.  So for example, wood pole portfolio has a revised amount of units.

MS. JABLONSKY:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So as I take it, some of the DRO stage numbers match the forecast and some have actually --include different numbers in different capital cost end units?

MS. JABLONSKY:  Yes.  Some we were able to, and some we were not able to.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just want to make sure we're getting the table right.

Then in the last column under the 2019-0082, we have the actuals for 2016, '17, '18, and then we have the forecast 2019 through to the end of the plan, 2022, correct?

MS. JABLONSKY:  Agreed.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we flip over the page, this is the table we created, and what you see in the first set of columns under 2016-2018 forecast, the 2016 forecast information -- because in the last proceeding, you didn't have actuals for that year yet because the case was going on in 2016 -- then the 2017 and 2018 numbers, which come from the DRO line items in the forecast.  Do you see that?

MS. JABLONSKY:  Yes, I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's what I've done.  I sent the table last week.  If you can confirm that is what I have done?

MS. JABLONSKY:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Then in the next 2016-2018 columns, we have the actuals for those years.  Do you see that?

MS. JABLONSKY:  I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Then in the next set of columns, we have -- if we look, we have one line that has forecast 2016-2018 and actuals 2016-2018.  So it is really adding up for each of these the forecast numbers, and then adding up the actuals for those three years, do you see that?

MS. JABLONSKY:  I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What we have also added to all of this -- sorry, let me get to one other.  The next set of two columns is the same thing, but only looking at 2017 and 18.  So not including 2016, so just the numbers from the two years where we had the last decision.  Do you see that?

MS. JABLONSKY:  I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Then the other thing we did was from the analysis we did, we essentially took the capital dollars and divided it by the number of replacement units.  Do you see that?

MS. JABLONSKY:  I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So let's -- if we look at the forecast versus actuals for 2016-18, or forecast and actuals for 2017 and 2018, what I see from this is that for every single portfolio with the exception of circuit breakers, the forecast cost per unit of replacement is lower than what you actually ended up spending per unit of replacement.  Do you see that?

MS. JABLONSKY:  I see that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So for transformers we take a look at, say, just '17 and '18, but the same thing as for 2016 to 2018.  It was about $5.5 million each.  You ended up spending 6.2 million.

If we go to circuit breakers, this is the one which goes in the opposite direction, 700,000.  You actually spend 500,000.  For protection systems, 125,000, you end up spending 166,000.  For conductor, 333,000 per kilometre, you end up spending 521,000 per kilometre.  For wood poles you spent 41,000 per -- you forecast to spend 41,000 per, you actually spend 45,000 per.  Steel structures, you spent 24,000, end up costing 45,000 to do the renewals.

So for all but one the cost ends up being higher.  What is going on?  Why is that appropriate?

MS. JABLONSKY:  Well, if we look at the circuit breaker, the one that mirrors the -- that looks the best, we're looking at individual units that are more confined in replacement.  If we're looking at medium-voltage circuit breaker to a high-voltage circuit breaker, it is still pretty much very contained.

So the fact that it actually -- it is situated in the station in a bay concept.  So the fact that the numbers are actually cleaner, that is understandable for the circuit breakers.

If we look at the conductor, what we have with conductor replacement is a project.  What we would then have is, it would be determined by the size of the conductor, the voltage class, the structure that it's on, wood pole, steel pole, whatever the case may be.  It would be determined by accessibility, how to get there, and at the same time, it would be spread across two to three years.

Therefore, simple math, to do what's spent to what was achieved in a particular year would not necessarily look as -- even as a circuit breaker.

If I am looking at the transformers, I'm looking at what makes up the transformer, the unit cost of the transformer.

If I am looking at standards that the transformers were installed to in the past, we would be looking at clearances of 50 metres.  In today, when we're doing a like-for-like replacement, that is not what we're looking for.  That is not what we have in the layout that we have.

What we then have to do is to install walls.  We may have to ground tertiary through a reactor.  There are different steps that we would have to do.

So the price -- the unit cost for the circuit breaker does change, all depending on what the unit work -- what the work is comprised of.

So it's a little bit different from one to the other.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand.  But I am just trying to understand versus the forecast what you forecasted, you know, not that long ago, ultimately, versus what the actuals are.  Why we're seeing the direction -- you know, all but one is going in the direction of it costing more on a unit of work basis than what you had forecasted it would do.

MS. JABLONSKY:  Please repeat your question.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am just trying to understand -- as I see it, all but one showed the same trajectory.  You forecasted a cost to do a unit of work of something.  It turns out it is costing more.

I am just trying to understand why all but one -- the vast majority of them, it is going the direction of costing more.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. JABLONSKY:  If we look at how we actually do work and we're looking towards a station centre and a bundling approach of doing the work, we tend not to plan based on the unit costs, because it's involved in what's involved in the work.

Therefore, to dissect what the unit costs will be after doing a whole bunch of work that's satisfied that investment, it makes it a little bit unclear.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What about for wood pole portfolio and steel structure portfolio?  My understanding, those are not part of station centric.  Those are repetitive programs that you run, and those two both go in the direction of your forecast, essentially the unit cost of something, it turns out to be much higher.

MS. JABLONSKY:  If we look at the wood poles, the wood poles is different.

The wood pole -- the challenge of the wood pole is location.  If we're looking at -- we look at bundling wood poles wherever we can, and then we look at isolated replacement of wood pole, and that would be based on the geography, where is it actually at the time.

So the wood pole -- the wood pole program is a lot cleaner as well, but the unit cost is determined by where it is, accessibility.  How do I get there?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I accept that it's not going to cost the same thing to do every pole.  I fully understand that. But over replacing, you know, 1,700 poles over two years, one would expect that you would derive an average from that, and that shouldn't change depending on how many poles you do.

MS. JABLONSKY:  Well, it would actually change, based on how -- because if we're looking at the wood pole -- the wood pole program we looked at before, I think we were changing 850 annually.

And if we're looking at -- from the last filing to this filing we thought about disaggregating the portfolio, and we would then look at wood poles in critical areas.

In doing so we recognize that we had on paper what seemed to be unit cost that was very much higher than what it used to be.  So then we recognized that we would need to bundle where we could, but at the same time we would still need to get to poles where we could not get to in a bundled format.

So to your question, the cost does vary for wood pole.  The costs will vary based on what we have.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What about steel structure?  Another thing where it seems to me we're seeing a significant increase in the cost to renew a steel structure.

MS. JABLONSKY:  Okay.  From an execution point of view I will let Mr. Spencer...

MR. SPENCER:  On the steel structure coating 
program -- and I believe we touched on this during the technical conference a little bit -- mid-2017, July 26th, to be specific, we had an electrical contact for one of our workers who was completing tower coating work.  So from that point onwards we modified our work method to do -- in simplified terms, less of it was live.  We had to take more outages, we had to do more climbing, we had to involve more people, to ensure safe work practice.

So those factors did lead to increased unit costs in the second half of 2017 and our 2018 program.  We've since worked through a full safety investigation and modified our work methods accordingly to return to more of a typical process in years gone by with some improved safety methods.  But that is the substantial explanation for the increase in unit costs from 2018 versus '17.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you very much.  As I understand from the last Board decision, you were told and you have complied with it, you have provided a tracking of expenditures for projects and explanations of the various variances at the project and program level.  You have included this in Exhibit C.  Correct?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes.  Exhibit C-2-1, attachment 1, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Maybe we could pull that up.  It is not in the compendium.  The sheets are a little too large to print.  But just if we can go to, let's say C-2-1, attachment 1, page 37, which is the 2017 numbers, just to help me understand what I am looking at here.

MR. SPENCER:  So I am at the reference.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So what you are showing here in this table -- and just correct me if I am reading this incorrectly -- is for given project or program -- in the last case they all had different ISD numbers, investment summary numbers -- you provided what the approved amount on a capex and an ISA basis at the DRO stage, and then the units approved, if there are units at the DRO stage.  Correct?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes.  So just to slightly clarify for the record.  On page 35 of the reference we have a table which has programs, which include unit accomplishments where applicable.  And then on the subsequent pages, 36 and 37 and 38 and even 39, those are projects and that same analysis of actuals versus approved and categorization of the variance.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You have also done for the projects, you also have changes in schedule from the in-service date schedule, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes, there are some projects that have shifted in time, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the thing with respect to your projects specifically, not programs but projects, most span actually more than two years.  Do I understand that?  A lot of your projects are multi-year.

You may be doing different parts and they go in-service as you are completing them.  But the full project may last four or five years, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  That's a fair characterization, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So what the table may show is variances, positive or negative, in spending or in 2017 and 2018.  It doesn't tell us if the project, ultimately when it is completed, the total cost will be higher or lower.  It tells us what you forecast to spend in the period and what you ended up spending in the period, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  That is correct.  That is what this report summarizes at the request of the decision last time.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am not critiquing what you have done.  I just want to understand what it means, and what we can take away from it.

And so let's use an example.  If we can go to page 36 and start with the first ISD, which is S 02, second from the bottom, we have air blast circuit breaker replacement Beck 2 TS, do you see that?

MR. SPENCER:  I see it, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So what I see here is in 2017 is you spent $1.8 million on a capex basis more than you had expected to spend, or you forecasted to spend.

MR. SPENCER:  Correct, and then -- yes, that is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So to me, it is roughly about 10 percent more.  Will you take that, subject to check?

MR. SPENCER:  I will just characterize these are in fact -- as you have stated, I believe -- calendar year totals and really just January 1st through to December 31st expenditure, not to be extrapolated to the entire project.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand.  I just wanted to use one example and this is the first S1.

MR. SPENCER:  Slightly less than 10 percent, but I see your point, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we go to the 2018 version of this table, because the project continues into 2018 and this is on page -- let me make sure I have the right pages here, page 55.  We see then for the same project -- this is air blast circuit breaker replacement Beck number 2 TS -- you spend again $1.8 million.  But in 2018, it is about a 14 percent increase in that year.

MR. SPENCER:  This is a complex project at one of our most integrated facilities, with one of the large hydro- electric generators in the province.

So yes, there are some modest capital expenditure timing variances relative to DRO forecast.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So when I add up the two years, so the 2017-2018 for the project, I get -- take this subject to check, you were going to spend 32.7 million.  You ended up spending 36.4 million.  It is about 11 percent more, correct, in those two years.

MR. SPENCER:  In those two years on that one specific project, correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, okay.  If we can go to page 68 of the compendium, this is a copy of the ISD in that last proceeding.

MR. SPENCER:  We have it, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  This was the ISD provided in the 2017-18 proceeding for this project, correct, the Beck 2 TS?

MR. SPENCER:  That's the correct ISD, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we flip over to the next page, at the time you were forecasting over the life of the project $90.7 million to do it.  Do I have that correct?  So that's not just 2017 and 2018, it is until the whole project is completed including potentially previous year's spending.

MR. SPENCER:  Based at that point in time in filing of May of 2016, that is correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if we go to page 80 of the compendium, now thankfully simplified the ISDs and now the entire air blast circuit breaker replacement projects are in one, that's on page 80, correct?  That begins on page 80 the ISD in this proceeding?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes, correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we go to page 81, we see a table of cost for all of the projects.  Do you see that?

MR. SPENCER:  I see it, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we flip to the next page, we have the Beck 1 project, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  You're talking -- Beck 2 is on the page 81.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Apologies.  On the original page, we have that Beck 2 project, correct, the same project?

MR. SPENCER:  I see it, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And now the total project, when it is all said and done, it is going to be $110 million, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  That's our projection, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's actually an increase of 21.5 percent of the total project costs.

MR. SPENCER:  That math is correct.  But I also feel it might be an appropriate time to talk about, you know, the portfolio performance versus project performance.

And, you know, we have a portfolio made up of many projects and there will be projects which are slightly above budget and projects that are slightly below budget.

And we're of course managing at the project level, but ultimately looking to deliver outcomes and meet financial commitments at the portfolio level.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Well let's --


MR. SPENCER:  We also have projects which are slightly under budget.  I am sure the tables say that as well.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am just trying -- my understanding, I just wanted to show the difference between the tables that you provided in the section C attachment which show year over year maybe have variances, but that's different than the total project costs.  We'll have variances that may be different.

MR. SPENCER:  You are absolutely correct this that regard.  Both are important, but different views.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So for example, in the Exhibit C tables, you may have a variance because, for example, the project is delayed so you spent less money.  Correct?

MR. SPENCER:  A delay could result in less expenditure.  It could also result in more expenditure.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Fair enough.  And bringing the project forward may have the same --


MR. SPENCER:  Fair enough.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But that doesn't necessarily tell you where the total cost of the project is going?

MR. SPENCER:  That view is not reflected within Exhibit C-2-1.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So when we were talking about the Beck 2 project for the air blast circuit breaker replacement, but let's go to page 66 of the compendium.  There is for the Beck 1 SS project, 115 kV project, I understand what this project is?

MR. SPENCER:  Beck 1 is a 115 kV project, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  On the next page, you were going to spend 24.1 was going to be the total cost of the project.  Do you see that?

MR. SPENCER:  Sorry.  We are jumping to your compendium.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Right on the screen.

MR. SPENCER:  I see that from the 2016 application, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we go to page 82, which is the ISD in this proceeding, that project is now going to cost 30.7 million.  Do you see that?

MR. SPENCER:  I do see that, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  An increase of about 27 percent.

MR. SPENCER:  Now, also keep in mind that, you know, every one of these projects, especially in -- well, in any filing, but they're all in different states of maturity so some of these projects were not fully authorized and approved.  They were not an execution in the previous filing.

So consistent with our evidence, project costs do evolve as we complete more project definition work and we get into execution, et cetera.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But the difference is 27 percent --sorry.  Yes, 27 percent, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  On those individual projects, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Let's go now to page 70 of the compendium.  This is the third air blast circuit breaker replacement project that you --


MR. SPENCER:  And just to point out a statement here, we're perhaps over simplifying the costs from one point in time to another if we don't also consider there can be scope changes as well.  And many of these projects, because of their complexity, their integrated nature with generators or other large customers, do have an evolving scope.

So some of the change that we're talking through on these two very specific projects are in fact due to scope changes, as well as change associated with costs that may or may not be within Hydro One's direct control.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  On page 70, this is the Bruce ATS project in the last proceeding, again, it's third air blast circuit breaker replacement program that you were considering in the last proceeding.  If you go to page 71, you were going to spend 104.9 million.  Correct?

MR. SPENCER:  I do see that, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  If we go to page 81.  Now 111.2 million.  So an increase of about 6 percent.

MR. SPENCER:  Which, quite honestly, I find fantastic, considering the complexities of this project, the coordination with Bruce Power around their entire work program and everything that has gone into that particular project.

So another point that I feel is relevant to the conversation is that many of the costs for these large air blast projects that we're referencing were defined under our previous capital delivery models.

We have since made many improvements, which have been detailed in Exhibit B-2-1, to ensure that we're giving better upfront consideration to some of the most significant risks that can drive costs and schedule variance.

We're seeing enhanced governance at the front end of a project which is now starting to pay benefits as we get through execution, and these projects unfortunately were typically approved -- I believe these ones were both in 2014 when they were ultimately approved via business case and very different methodology undertaken at that particular time to what we do today.

There's been a demonstrable improvement in our capital definition practices.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we go to page 72 -- this is Bruce B -- you forecasted -- this is on page 73 -- 65.2 million.  If we go to page 81, same project, the new budget is 85.5 million, so an increase of 31 percent.

MR. SPENCER:  And again, evolving scope.  This project specifically has gone through significant scope evolution. I believe our evidence speaks to an evolving process, and we can start out with essentially a planning allocation.  I believe, certainly, Mr. Rubenstein, you are very familiar with the AACE cost estimation classification, the concept being when a project is first initialized there's a potential wide range of outcomes and, as you complete more work and you take it through the capital planning process, you converge the range of expected outcomes.

So more engineering work, more sourcing work, more outage planning work.  All of those things give a better perspective on the expected range of costs.

So every one of these numbers, although they're presented in a nominal format, there is really a plus and a minus to each one of these project totals that we are stepping through right here.  So we achieve to -- we strive to operate within a tolerance around these numbers, and some of these projects we're referencing a 5 or 6 percent cost variance, well within our expected performance for those particular projects.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What about this one?  So if we go to page 74, this is Cherrywood TS 230, page 75, you have forecasted it will cost 60.6 million.  If we go to page 81, the new -- the Cherrywood TS 230 kV is now going to cost 88.9 million.  So 46 percent increase in costs.  Do you see that?

MR. SPENCER:  Again, I don't believe these are apples-to-apples comparisons.  There are many factors driving the change, and project costs between these two different periods, these two different rate cases, and really just looking at these nominal numbers in isolation is not proper analysis, I would suggest.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I won't go through the entire list.  But in the last -- there are seven ISDs in the compendium with the seven that you present in the last case with respect to air blast circuit breaker replacement projects, and with the exception of one, which Richview -- which came in at budget, all of them are more expensive now.

So I understand that there's always a range and a planning range and a plus or minus, but it always seems plus, doesn't it, in these projects.

MR. SPENCER:  We're zoning in on a subset of an entire portfolio.  These projects also have to be -- happen to be some of the most complicated and challenging from an execution perspective when it comes down to coordination with large customers, obtaining outages to actually complete the work.  You know, if we want to get very specific, Beck 2, in the middle of the project execution we had the switchyard health degraded so quickly that we were literally one contingency away from having to work with OPG to enact their emergency water management plan, which would have, you know, had a grave consequence beyond just, you know, project cost or a reliability metric here and there.  It would have had impact to the residents who live in the area, as well as OPG.

So there are circumstances which evolve in the execution of a project like degrading health of the remaining infrastructure which cause changes to schedule, cause changes to how we manage contingency and risk and execution.  So these are very dynamic projects, especially the air blast circuit breakers, because they are installed in such critical, highly networked facilities across our system.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so when we're back here in 2022 for the 2023 project, are we going to see the same thing, same projects that span -- that are not completed by 2022?  It's going to -- we'll have another increase of costs on all of those projects?

MR. SPENCER:  I believe every project we just spoke to was approved via business case around the 2014-2015 time line, so quite some time ago.

What we have done in late '15 through to really the end of 2018 was a complete overhaul of our transmission capital project delivery model.

We've exerted a lot of effort that is, again, referenced in Exhibit B-2-1 to enhance our project definition processes, which -- this is really what our project scope and budget and schedule is being set, and locked in with the approval document.  More upfront effort at that stage of a project so we can better identify and mitigate these particular risks.

You know, the Bruce B project, for example, has, you know, something in the order of 60 different outages that had to be perfectly coordinated with Bruce Power for the project to go off without a plan.  So we spent significant time with Bruce Power looking at the outage plan, looking at the risks, what alternatives could be considered, and ultimately arriving at a more holistic, better solution for customers for us to be able to deliver against plan.

We've enhanced the roles of project managers, we have enhanced the timing at which we do outage plan, we've strengthened our project management and project controls practices.  It is an area you might tell I am particularly proud of, and I am sure when we're back here in 2022 we're going to be able to see continued improvements in our project delivery record.

What we've spoken to in Exhibit C-2-1 is the two very specific years of 2017 and '18 around how we have been able to manage a large dynamic portfolio that does have many ups and downs, and for both of those years we have overcome challenges of years gone by where we were under-delivering on our work program.

The evidence, I am sure you are familiar with it, there are one or two projects in each year that have pushed or pulled a little bit, but in balance of that we have been able to deliver to plan.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I know it is one o'clock.  I have maybe 15, 20 minutes.  I don't know if we want to take the lunch now or after.  It is up to the Board panel.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  We will take our lunch break now and come back at two o'clock.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 1:00 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:05 p.m.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Mr. Rubenstein?


MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Chair, maybe before Mr. Rubenstein continues, I have been told that there is a clarification that someone wants to make from something that was said this morning.  So if we could do that now, because it does arise from the examination of Mr. Rubenstein.


DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Go ahead.  Thank you.


MR. SPENCER:  Good afternoon.  I would like to clarify my earlier conversations with Mr. Rubenstein regarding progressive productivity.


To reiterate, Hydro One is committed to achieving our full work program and work volumes in the current plan, and furthermore we're also committed to fully achieving the productivity both defined and progressive throughout the plan.


We plan to continue to track and monitor our productivity reporting to provide transparency to the Board on how we are achieving these forward-looking customer benefits.


Mr. Jodoin, however, is coming on panel 2, and he is best enabled to explain the exact mechanics of the tracking and reporting of productivity requirements, including how that rolls into revenue requirement.


So he will be appearing on panel 2, and would be better equipped for those specific questions.


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just before we get into the rest, I just want to clarify -- I am not sure actually what you are clarifying exactly. I just want to make sure, because we had a long discussion.


What are you less sure about, or what are you saying panel 2 will deal with?


MR. SPENCER:  So I think it was the future cost recovery in the hypothetical scenario that we overachieved or underachieved our progressive productivity savings.


It is a very complex matter, and the exact mechanics of how that all flows through to future recovery I think is best handled by Mr. Jodoin.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So then I believe in our discussion where we ended was in a scenario where you do not achieve the undefined progressive productivity, you are still going to do the amount of work and so your actuals will be higher.  And I thought and maybe this is maybe what we're clarifying, essentially the shareholder would not just in 21, 22, 23 but on a going forward basis, will bear the risk of that $10 million and now -- am I correct?  We had that part of the discussion?


MR. SPENCER:  We did have that discussion.  But I think the exact mechanics, both in the near term and long term around how that is dispositioned, that is where Mr. Jodoin can, I think, provide additional clarity.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So what you -- in your view, this panel is not saying is that if the actuals are higher because of not meeting the undefined progressive productivity targets, that you will bear the risk -- you will bear the consequences of that after 2022.  That's a discussion for panel 2?


MR. SPENCER:  Correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Can I ask if we can go to page 87?  In my last section, I want to talk about the scorecard and some of the metrics with you.


So as I understand, this is the proposed transmission scorecard?


MR. JESUS:  Yes, it is.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we go to page 90, you provide -- sorry, beginning at page 88, but going through to a number of pages, you explain each of the metrics, correct?  That is what the table starting at page 88 does?


MR. JESUS:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I want to ask you about a couple of them.  The first is on page 90; this is the Transmission System Plan implementation progress measure.


You mentioned this in the presentation at the beginning of the day.  And how it is described is:

"The transmission system plan implementation progress measure compares the total actual in-year sustainment, development and operating expenditures for in-service additions to the total internal company scorecard budget expenditures for in-service additions, including any OEB carry forward variances."


That is what it measures, correct?  Have I read that correctly?  That's what the measure -- how it is calculated?


MR. JESUS:  Just to be clear, it's total in-service additions, divided by the budget for in-service additions.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You used the term -- and I believe it was said again in morning -- you said total internal company.


Is that going to be different than the amount of in-service additions the Board will approve in its decision, or will they be the exact same?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. JESUS:  Yes, they are.  They're aligned, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So where it says OEB -- sorry, where it says total internal company scorecard budget, you could replace that with approved OEB in-service additions?


MR. JESUS:  No, and the rationale for that is that the OEB provided -- the rationale as to why we changed the wording is that the OEB directed us to eliminate the words "OEB approved" reference -- I can provide the reference.  I know I have it.


They specifically asked us to eliminate the words "OEB approved" and we have put since then, it is the budget that we're working towards.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Regardless of the language, it will be the OEB-approved amounts, that that's what you are comparing?


MR. JESUS:  It's the total approved budget for in-service.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That this Board approves?


MR. JESUS:  I would think so, yes, that's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, thank you, I just wanted to clarify that.  The second question -- the second metric I had a question on was the capital additions accomplishment composite index.  This is a couple down, do you see that?


MR. JESUS:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As I read it, it is the weighted actual in-year accomplishments for significant capital programs, then you list -- sorry, the TX capital program accomplishment composite index measures compares the weighted actual in-year capital accomplishments for significant TX capital programs against the weighted budget.


So can you just clarify what actually is being compared?  Is it simply the budgets for those programs on a weighted basis versus the approved or forecast budgeted?


MR. SPENCER:  It's a combination of expenditure as well as accomplishment.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  How does the accomplishment part work?  Or let me rephrase.  Is accomplishment the spend?


MR. SPENCER:  No.  Accomplishment would be the number of actual units versus the number of planned units.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  How did you do that calculation?  It would be easier if you want to provide this by way of undertaking, a sample calculation.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. SPENCER:  There was one in evidence on the OM&A side, but we will happily provide one on the capital.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That will be J1.2. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO EXPLAIN THE CALCULATION IN THE CAPITAL PROGRAM ACCOMPLISHMENT COMPOSITE INDEX


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, when I -- and you don't need to pull this up, but when I look at each of the six programs that you are talking about here, would you take it subject to check that it makes up about 20 percent of your system renewal budget?


MR. SPENCER:  Subject to check, that sounds about right.  The majority is in fact project spend.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Exactly.  So the majority of your spending is on projects, not programs.  Correct?


MR. SPENCER:  That's correct, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so there's nothing in the scorecard related to project accomplishment or performance?


MR. SPENCER:  The scorecard lends itself well, at least in the construct here, to unitized tracking of programs, and we've aggregated those into these composite index we have spoken of.  But for projects, there's such variability in scope and cost from one to the next, we didn't feel it was an appropriate metric to have on the scorecard.

Rather more what we have included is the ability to achieve the envelope of capital expenditures and in-service additions against plan, which is essentially a sum of all, you know, project performance.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, but you would agree with me that you can spend a certain amount of money but you may end up doing more or less work than you had forecast with that envelope of money.  Correct?

MR. SPENCER:  Notionally, yes, you're correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if we go to page 93 of the compendium, am I correct -- and you mentioned this in some of my earlier questions -- you measure, though, certain project level performance.  Correct?  And you have it sometimes at the portfolio level.  Correct?

MR. SPENCER:  We manage and measure both at the portfolio and the project level, yes, you are correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if we look at the portfolio level, we see number of projects -- and I am looking at starting with the third bullet point here -- these are metrics, as I understand, you use, you have, for example, number of projects forecasted as a major variance plus or minus to budget.  Value of projects forecasted with a major variance. Project cost performance.  You have a number of metrics that you internally track with respect to what I would call be more -- would give you a better sense of your project performance, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  That is correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And why would you not consider utilizing some or some combination of those metrics that you use in your transmission scorecard so that there is a monitoring of the other 80 percent of your system renewal spending?

MR. SPENCER:  So I referenced earlier the continued evolution of our capital delivery models and all of our associated project controls and reporting practices.

So at the time that the scorecard was developed to underpin the pre-filed evidence for this application, we didn't have the ability to actually report out against all of these metrics included in Exhibit JT1.16.

So some of these are enhancements that we have recently put in place, and we now have an enhanced ability to report at individual project and portfolio level metrics.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So now you could, if the Board put one of these on the scorecard, you're able to monitor that, measure that, at least on a going-forward basis, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  Principally, yes, I think they serve different purposes, but these are things that we have the ability to report on, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And regardless if it's on the transmission scorecard or not, if we're back here in a couple of years you're going to be able to report on these for the previous three years?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes, we would.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And do you forecast, do you create forecasts or -- I shouldn't say forecasts.  Do you have targets for these metrics that you want to achieve?

MR. SPENCER:  A mix of them have targets set and some of them are more sort of tracking and trending metrics that we analyze.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Which ones would have targets?

MR. SPENCER:  Subject to check I will clarify these following ones would have targets set.  So at the portfolio level, the first two, which are around in-service additions and capital expenditures versus planned, which are -- in fairness, are already on the scorecard.  The next one around portfolio risk, number of projects forecasting a major variance to budget.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So let's just stop there.  That one has a target?  You have a target when you monitor or you have -- you forecast out what you would like that number to be?

MR. SPENCER:  Subject to check, yes, we do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so can I ask by way of undertaking that you provide the ones that have targets and what those targets are?

MR. SPENCER:  We can do that, yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  J1.3. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO PROVIDE THE FORECASTS THAT HAVE TARGETS AND WHAT THOSE TARGETS ARE.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And those are all of my questions.  Thank you very much, panel.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thanks, Mr. Rubenstein.

Mr. Ladanyi or Dr. Higgin?  Dr. Higgin, please go ahead.
Cross-Examination by Dr. Higgin:

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I will be starting using my compendium.  So perhaps we could make sure that has been circulated and everybody has a copy before I start.

[Energy Probe's compendium distributed.]


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, are we ready?

DR. ELSAYED:  We will just give that an exhibit number before --


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, please.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  K1.3. 
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  ENERGY PROBE CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 1.


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Please go ahead.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you very much.  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Roger Higgin for Energy Probe, and I am hoping to cover the historic Hydro One transmission system reliability metrics, benchmarking of the current Hydro One system reliability, and then, importantly, looking forward to the targets for improved system reliability; i.e., the outcomes that are being projected for customers.  And then the linkage to the proposed Transmission System Plan, and the system renewal component of the capital request.  So that is the ground I hope to cover this afternoon.

So if you could turn to page 3.  So we've just looked at this exhibit, and basically I won't spend very much time on it.  This is the regulatory scorecard, and it shows the system reliability indices in that section that deals with T-SAIFI, T-SAIDI, T-SAIDI, and momentary, unsupplied energy minutes and system unavailability percent.

So distribution utilities generally report to the Board their metrics without LOS or MED, major event days.  So just, can you tell us what these metrics -- how they're constructed, just so we would know whether we're looking at apples to apples.  Does it include, for example, LOS, loss of supply?

MR. JESUS:  So, yes, our reliability numbers include everything, excluding the 1998 ice storm, the 2003 blackout, and 2013 flooding, flooding in the GTA area.  So those are the three major events that are not included in any of these numbers.

DR. HIGGIN:  All right.  Well, these start at 2014 anyway.

MR. JESUS:  Sorry?

DR. HIGGIN:  The tables -- the numbers start at 2014 anyway.

MR. JESUS:  Correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.

MR. JESUS:  Just to be clear, the targets going forward will exclude force majeure events based on a two beta methodology, going forward starting in 2019.

DR. HIGGIN:  That's what I was going to come to.  So when we look forward or when we look at these major event days are not included, correct?  You just said.

MR. JESUS:  They will exclude it based on force majeure events, having a 10,000 megawatt minute impact on the system for an event.

DR. HIGGIN:  So there is a threshold.

MR. JESUS:  There is a threshold.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you for clarifying that.  So now just take it, subject to check -- let's look at T-SAIDI sustained in here.

Take it subject to check -- it is very small -- that the historic five-year average for 2014-2018 is 55 minutes per delivery point.  Take that subject to check.

The important thing is that it seems to be getting worse since 2016.  Do you agree?

MR. JESUS:  Can I direct you to I-07-SEC-044, please -- I'm sorry, I misspoke.  I-07-SEC-045 is the interrogatory that I went to refer to, because in there it has clear graphics that you can show.  So for each one of those over the last two years, I would suggest over the last five years the trend for that particular graph that is on the screen -- which happens to be momentary interruptions -- is relatively stable.

There is a short coming in 2016.  But if you look at 2014 through 2018, it looks to be pretty flat.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  But you're talking about momentary here.

MR. JESUS:  Sorry about that.

DR. HIGGIN:  I asked a question specifically about SAIDI sustained, please.

MR. JESUS:  I'm sorry.  Go to the next graphic.  So you're right.  From a SAIDI sustained only, over the last three years it looks like it is creeping up.

If I were to draw the last five years only, so from 2014 through 2018, again it looks fairly stable, with a major spike in 2018 because of the severe storms that we had in 2018.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Those storms were part of the MED deductions for the metric?

MR. JESUS:  No, I'm sorry.  This is SAIFI that we're looking at.  Can we go to the next --


DR. HIGGIN:  I have been talking about SAIDI.

MR. JESUS:  SAIDI is there, that's correct. These all include every event that ever occurred.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  And so SAIDI is improving according to this graph?

MR. JESUS:  So over the last five years, again it looks fairly stable, with exception of 2018 where we had five major storms across the entire province.

The impact of those storms was not removed from our transmission performance.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  But you report with MEDs removed, correct?

MR. JESUS:  No.

DR. HIGGIN:  No?

MR. JESUS:  So again in 2018, it was a very severe storm year.  There are five force majeure events on the distribution system.  The impact on transmission, all of the events on the transmission were included.  Yes, they were all included.

DR. HIGGIN:  So let's look at the hours, please.  Let's go back to the scorecard that you report to this Board and look at the hours.

Since we want to go into this, would you like to tell me in 2018 the difference -- let's start at 2016 and talk about the T-SAIDI average minutes interruptions for the last three years, which is where I started.  It shows those three numbers?

MR. JESUS:  Over the last three years?

DR. HIGGIN:  At 2016.

MR. JESUS:  I'm sorry, what is your question?

DR. HIGGIN:  The question is, can you look at the numbers for 2016, 2017 and 2018, okay?  What do those numbers say in the number of hours of interruptions at each delivery point?

MR. JESUS:  So in 2016, 80 minutes.  In 2017, we went down to 43 minutes.  And in 2018, we went up to 70 minutes.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  So just take it, subject to check, which is my first question, was if we take five years -- because I think it is reasonable not to try and do things on a one-year basis; we need to look at the trends.  Just take it that the average five years is 55 minutes.  You can take it to my math, which is 55 minutes.

MR. JESUS:  Subject to check, yes, thank you.

DR. HIGGIN:  Then as we discussed, I believe -- but you can tell us -- that it's getting worse since 2016, including 2016.

So what I would like you to do to help everybody here unravel this is -- you know, the distribution scorecard, they put the trend arrows on in that scorecard when they file it.  Could you give us a version of this with the trend lines up to 2018, that's the historic, showing us the trend arrows?

When I say, you know, they have green arrows, horizontal arrows and red arrows.  That would help everybody understand.

MR. KEIZER:  If I could, Dr. Higgin, I don't know if this will assist you or not.  But I believe in the TSP evidence, there is a chart which shows this more broken down.  It may be that it will alleviate your concerns and provide some clarity.  It is Exhibit B-01-01, TSP-1.5, page 32 of 55.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.

MR. KEIZER:  There is a trend line there, and there is also some...

DR. HIGGIN:  I have seen the graphs.  I am just saying that looking at the overall scorecard you do file as Hydro One, the one with the arrows, that shows the arrows.  I think it would be very helpful to everyone.  Is that okay?

Mr. Chair, do you think that would be helpful?

DR. ELSAYED:  You're suggesting that this be done on that same table...

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, as the scorecard.

MR. KEIZER:  And we file that as an undertaking, is that what you are asking?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, please.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry for which measures?  Just the SAIDI/SAIFI measures?

DR. HIGGIN:  That is the one I am interested in.  Be my guest to add any others.

MR. KEIZER:  No, that's fine.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay?

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.

DR. ELSAYED:  Give that an undertaking number, please.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  J1.4. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  TO UPDATE THE SCORECARD TO INCLUDE TREND LINES UP TO 2018


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  I just want to know  -- if you could turn to page 4, I just wanted to look at the other scorecard, which is the team scorecard.

Unfortunately, for some reason -- and I was looking for this -- I couldn't find the actual.  So I found this as a sample and basically I assume it's not the current version and the updated version.

So you don't have to -- perhaps tell me the reference because that would be helpful.  And again we can just talk a bit about the scorecard in its entirety as it relates to system reliability.

So could you tell me what the reference is for the actual filed up-to-date version of this?

MR. JESUS:  Certainly.  I-12-AMPCO-083 provides the corporate scorecards.

DR. HIGGIN:  So that wasn't actually in evidence.  That was why -- it was an interrogatory response.  Is that the...

MR. JESUS:  Yes.  I-12-AMPCO-83.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, thank you.  Let's just look at this.  You'll see there at the top you're talking about TX SAIDI, okay.  And what I would like to understand in this scorecard just as an illustration of what are the various performance levels, actual -- obviously that's historic -- threshold, budget and maximum.

Could you tell us what those numbers are, please?  You don't have to go with these particular numbers, if you wish.

MR. JESUS:  Certainly.  So from a threshold budget and actuals, they're mainly from a compensation perspective.

So the threshold is the absolute minimum target that we would need to achieve to obtain any compensation whatsoever.

Sabrin Lila has that as part of her undertaking that we can -- you can ask her what the compensation level is. 

The budget is what our target is and the maximum is the stretch target for reliability.

DR. HIGGIN:  So that's for -- the one we have here is for 2017, which is historic.  I assume you have an updated one for the test year somewhere.

MR. JESUS:  So the reference is, the corporate scorecard is in I-12-AMPCO-83.  And it is currently on the screen, sorry.

DR. HIGGIN:  And that is 2018?

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  And that is a historic number.  But surely a scorecard deals with looking forward into what your performance targets are.  That's what I'm asking.

MR. JESUS:  So the look-forward performance targets are, again, in Exhibit, as per your compendium, in A-03-01.  The look-forward targets are provided there, 2019 to 2024.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So just take it subject to check that if we look at those targets -- if those are the right ones, because that was my confusion -- take it that the targets say that T-SAIDI will look improved from 32 minutes -- that's the average -- from 55 to 32 minutes.  That is what the math shows.

I have no -- that's what the math says.  It shows a 22-minute improvement over that period.  Take it subject to check.

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  So these numbers here would be perhaps annual numbers, is it, that that's how I should look at the numbers in the team's scorecard, their annual numbers.

MR. JESUS:  These are the targets that we're submitting as part of the OEB scorecard, their annual targets.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right, thank you.  I just wanted to clarify that.

MR. JESUS:  Sorry, can you repeat your question?

DR. HIGGIN:  Just to clarify as you did that these would be the annual targets.  So as you see, a budget of 7.6 would be the target for 2018.  Correct?

MR. JESUS:  I'm sorry, where are you referring to?

DR. HIGGIN:  I am looking under transmission reliability, minutes per delivery point, T-SAIDI, and I am looking at the budget, 7.6.

MR. JESUS:  Okay.  And your question is, sorry?

DR. HIGGIN:  Just to clarify that that was one year, and those are minutes per delivery point.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, we just put up on the screen 
the -- just so people know, there is a 2019 team scorecard.  It is at Exhibit F-4-1, attachment 4.  So this is the 2019 one which was in evidence.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  So that is eight minutes for 2019.  That's a helpful clarification.  So we will come back to the question of the improvements in a moment.

So I would like to move on next to the page 5, please.  This is a workbook that we prepared based on the interrogatory response to J1.38, which was provided by you in the technical conference.

So I would like to say we will be using this and, therefore, we have updated it, and we would like to have an exhibit for this separate from the J1.38 exhibit.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, just to be clear, so, sorry, this -- what you are showing on page 5 is based on J1.38?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And so although it is part of your compendium, you want it marked as a separate exhibit?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, please, because as we will see if we have another page, which is the second part of the workbook that I sent you, the tab 2, which we will talk about in a minute.  So that's why we need a different exhibit.

Page 1 is identical to J1.38 with a few minor corrections.  I put them in red ink.

DR. ELSAYED:  Sorry.  The separate exhibit number is for which part exactly?

DR. HIGGIN:  It would be for the workbook, the whole of the workbook, which is -- has been sent as an Excel spreadsheet, and you have a PDF copy of the two tabs.

So it's the workbook that we would like to have.  Therefore that means that the Excel version of the workbook which I sent to Hydro One.

MR. KEIZER:  So you want the Excel version marked as a separate exhibit, as opposed to this page itself?  Okay.  Understood.

DR. ELSAYED:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So that would be Exhibit K1.3 (sic). 
EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  EXCEL VERSION OF THE WORKBOOK.

DR. HIGGIN:  Now, I won't spend much time on page 1, because we have already been --


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Excuse me.  Sorry.  That is K1.4.

DR. HIGGIN:  I won't spend any more time on page 1, because we've been through that at the technical conference.  And so what I will do is move on to --


MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, Mr. Higgin.  So you indicated -- sorry, the numbers marked in red, are those your numbers or are they Hydro One's numbers?

DR. HIGGIN:  My belief is they are Hydro One updated numbers that I got from, for example, the scorecard.  Okay?  They were just not quite in line with the T-138 numbers.

I don't think it is a big deal.  I am just saying they were not quite in line, okay?

I have sent you the spreadsheet, so should you find any errors or anything, please draw them to our attention.

So I would like to look at tab 2, which is page 6 of my materials.  And this basically, as it says here, puts together some industry peer group information and also puts together Hydro-Québec's material regarding Trans Energy.  That is their transmission company.

So I sent this to you, and I hope you have had a chance to look at this, and basically let's just briefly talk about --


MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, can I just raise a question about this, actually.  What you sent to us, Dr. Higgin, I believe were, I think this document that is shown here in PDF, but you also sent us supporting documents which were in French.

So I am not sure whether you are asking, you know -- I don't think Hydro One is in a position to verify or to necessarily validate any of the numbers that you are putting forward here with respect to Hydro-Québec or the other peers that you are asserting those numbers from.

DR. HIGGIN:  You're saying you haven't had a chance to verify them since the time I sent it to you and coming to this hearing.  That's what you're saying?

MR. KEIZER:  What I am saying is we weren't in a position to translate the documents which you provided, nor the basis upon which they were required to be --


DR. HIGGIN:  Sorry, sir, the documents and the things that are most important were the charts that were in that document.  And basically they don't need any translation.

MR. KEIZER:  And I guess all I could say is I am not sure whether the documents themselves had any qualifications or any other kind of assumptions that underpin the charts --


DR. HIGGIN:  Agreed.

MR. KEIZER:  -- that showed in those documents, and I don't think that Hydro One is in a position, one, to verify documents or data which is not their data of another utility and, two, not to verify the document when it is itself -- is not -- is proposed to be in French.

So that's why, with respect to this information that you have here and the questions you are going to ask, I have concerns about its relevance, given the fact that I don't know how Hydro One can really speak or address anything to do with Hydro-Québec or the information related to Hydro-Québec.

DR. HIGGIN:  There is two things in here.  One is the first-quartile U.S. peer group study, okay?  And that was also done as part of the organization that you are part of -- that is, the National Association of Transmitters Forum -- and also, was also done with data from NERC, which is the National Energy Regulatory Commission.

So basically, this is public information.  The Hydro-Québec information is public.  It's been filed with the Régie.

MR. KEIZER:  But in my view, Mr. Chair, it is not for us to validate Energy Probe's data.  If Energy Probe wanted to put forward somebody or a witness with respect to the information and data, they should have done so.

It is not for them to go and collect data and say, here, Hydro One, go validate our evidence for us.  Hydro One can speak to the data that is theirs, and I believe there is an undertaking which was provided, I think on Friday, with respect to the National Association for Transmitters with respect to benchmarking data.

That obviously is an undertaking from Hydro One and they can speak to that.

But I don't think it is necessarily fair to take a collection of data and then ask Hydro One to validate it when they are either not participating, or not part of a study, or that it is not their data.

DR. HIGGIN:  So the problem I have is that there was no proper system reliability index benchmark data filed by Hydro One.  They have the National Energy Transmission Forum data which they filed, and I am going to show you what they filed in a moment.

But that is the issue.  So I tried to find some benchmarking data, because I believe benchmarking is a matter that is important to this case and I hope important to the Board.  That is where --


DR. ELSAYED:  It is  But I thought you just mentioned that they did, Hydro One did file some benchmarking information?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  It is not on this basis, sir.  The one they filed has different indices, I will come to that in a minute.

I was trying to have comparable data using the same indices this they are using in the scorecard.

MR. KEIZER:  The benchmarking data, I believe, that was filed, I believe, is JT 1 -- it is in your compendium, is that not right?

DR. HIGGIN:  It is, sir, yes.

MR. KEIZER:  At page 7 of Dr. Higgin's compendium.  But I still go back to my original concern, which is that Dr. Higgin has accumulated data, put it on a certain basis, and then is asking Hydro One to validate that.

They have not themselves done the analysis, nor should they expect to validate the evidence that Dr. Higgin is now trying to bring in through cross-examination.

DR. HIGGIN:  Excuse me, I am not trying to validate.  I am just going to ask some questions, which are fairly significant high-level questions about how do you compare to others.

Sir, you have benchmarked your total costs.  You have hired Mr. Fenrick to benchmark your total costs against the US.  So why is it not reasonable to bring benchmark data on reliability?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, that is something you can make a comment on in your final submissions.

The nature of the benchmarking data, the quality of the benchmarking data, and the analysis underpinning that benchmarking data -- whether the conclusions can be appropriately drawn or not -- is for you to have either led evidence in that regard or, you know, to have validated by some other measure.

I don't think it is fair to put a collection of numbers and then -- and then say, okay, this is how you compare, when the validity of that benchmark that you are actually comparing against has not been necessarily proven, or there is no underlying analysis that is...

DR. HIGGIN:  So, I understand, sir, that you haven't had time to look at these data and validate them.

MR. KEIZER:  It has nothing to do with time.

DR. HIGGIN:  I understand.

MR. KEIZER:  It has nothing to do with time.

DR. ELSAYED:  Go ahead.

DR. HIGGIN:  So I think that the information is relevant.  How does Hydro One compare on a benchmark basis to US utilities and, in this case, to Hydro-Québec?

DR. ELSAYED:  Just so to make sure I understand.  The information was provided to Hydro One by Dr. Higgin and you're suggesting that...

MR. KEIZER:  Well, it's a collection of information of data points.  I don't know how it was collected, or why it was collected, or the basis upon which it was aggregated.

If you accept it as evidence -- which it's not -- then, you know, Dr. Higgin should probably be cross-examined as to how he did put the data together, because if you are going to accept it as analysis and a proper benchmark, we have a right to challenge it in that regard because effectively it takes the form of evidence otherwise.

DR. HIGGIN:  Sir, the evidence is from Hydro-Québec's filing with the Régie.  That's where it comes from.

I gave Hydro One the two references, and all of the data comes from that.  And basically it wouldn't have taken very long for Hydro One, if they wanted to go and do that, to go and look at those two Régie filings which I sent them copies of in the interim.

I am happy to say if they haven't done that, I will try to bring it back when they have had a chance to look at the two Régie filed documents from Hydro-Québec.

MR. KEIZER:  Which are in French, which require translation, and which require analysis as to whether or not it is an appropriate basis upon which you can actually establish a benchmark, and whether or not you're actually benchmarking to something which is an appropriate data point.

In my view, it's not fair that parties put forward documents which have no -- which simply they pull from public archives or otherwise and say here's a number.  This is how you compare and then expect you, the Board, to put weight upon it in terms of making a conclusion without themselves having established the proof of that and the validity of that by themselves filing evidence.

DR. ELSAYED:  Yes.  But it's really not unusual for a party to bring forward benchmarking information that is publicly available.  I guess what's at issue here is you're saying that you are not in a position to respond to that right now.

It is possible Dr. Higgin can bring it forward at a later time, or a later stage in the process.

But I am still not clear why publicly available benchmarking information could not be put forward in a proceeding like this.

MR. KEIZER:  I don't think it's a problem if someone had a benchmarking study and said this is a publicly available benchmarking study for which Hydro One is a participant in and put that forward.

But I am not sure that it's appropriate -- as I understand what Dr. Higgin has done is gone and got data on a comparable basis, and then says this is how you benchmark relative to them.  And so then the question is, well, is that an appropriate benchmark?  Are they appropriate candidates against which they should be benchmarked?

Effectively, often times when we talk about benchmarking data, one of the things we often talk a lot about is who is in the benchmark.

And so it would seem to me that it's unfair to simply just pluck a benchmark and say, okay, let's compare you against that, and say that that is an appropriate benchmarking exercise.

DR. HIGGIN:  I have a proposal.  I will delete all of the Hydro-Québec's own data from here, okay, and I will leave only the industry part of the extraction from the document.  That then, to my mind, is very valid and relevant information since Hydro One is benchmarking their total costs to the US industry.

So I think this is relevant.  They can then look at it and they can be ready to ask some questions, I hope, in future when we set a time.  Would that be a reasonable compromise?

MR. KEIZER:  The only concern I have with that is my friend takes and draws an analogy between what we did in terms of total cost benchmarking between PCE and PEG, two sophisticated level of experts which they themselves and have gone out and gotten their comparators and subjected them to some kind of basis upon which to establish the comparators.

If it's a data set that Hydro One has already benchmarked themselves against, I think that is fair game because it is some kind of association or otherwise.

But I do have concerns that somehow we now have to go do a benchmarking study or exercise to validate what Dr. Higgin is saying, and that I think is not appropriate and I don't think the analogy between PEG and PCE is correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  So they basically -- can I just respond?  PA Consulting and First Quartile are two companies that do benchmarking for the industry.  They are well known. They've done work in the past for Hydro One on various parameters.

So basically, they are experts.  I am not the expert.  I am just bringing their information into the hearing.  That's all I'm doing.

DR. ELSAYED:  So obviously we are not going to be addressing that here today.  So I would suggest that if Dr. Higgin wants to bring something forward then for Hydro One to respond to it in the proper manner in a subsequent step, I don't see necessarily that Hydro One has to be part of that benchmarking exercise for it to be relevant, and if it would help the Panel in understanding some of Hydro One's performance, then I think it would be helpful and relevant.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, then I guess what we will do is, if Dr. Higgin wants to remove the Hydro-Québec part we can take a look at the data that he has provided in exception of Hydro-Québec and then be in a position to make a statement or respond to questions as to whether or not it is an appropriate basis of comparison.

DR. ELSAYED:  That is reasonable, I think.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Sorry for that delay.

Could we move on to page 7.  This is the data that you have filed in response to peer group comparison.

Now, just to say the problem, Mr. Chair, was that these data use a specific index, TRIND, which is an industry index which has been put together to try and compare different transmission companies.  That is what this is.  It has next to no relevance or connection to the actual indices that they are required to file with this Board --

MR. KEIZER:  Is Dr. Higgin making a submission or asking questions?

MS. SIMON:  So now the question is, tell us -- based on this undertaking -- where does Hydro One stand relative to the peer group?

MR. JESUS:  As is shown in the undertaking, and based on the NATF, which is North American Transmission Forum, we stand 19th out of the 19th peer group, which is effectively the worst as compared to our peer group.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So let's go back and see where you were historically.  I found this particular filing, which goes back to an earlier filing by your company.  This one goes on a slightly different period.  It is earlier, 2012 to 2015.  Just take it subject to check that in this case that on the prior IPII score, that is, the other index that was previously used up to 2019, 2018, you were ranked around 15 out of 21 in this.  Is that correct?  That's an average.

MR. JESUS:  For which year, sorry?

DR. HIGGIN:  I said as an average.  It was lower than the 19 out of 19.  It was basically, you were 15, around 15 out of the 21 in this particular survey.  You were somewhat better when this was done.  Correct?

MR. JESUS:  I guess it depends on the IPI score for the various elements that they're benchmarking us on, but the total score, as you indicate in 2015, was 13th out of the peer group of 21.

DR. HIGGIN:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. JESUS:  So somewhere around the middle.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  You were, as you say, around the middle.

So can we just now move forward, because I realize time has been taken, to deal with -- can we move to page 11 of my compendium.  Then we will get to my position in the notes here.

Okay.  Do you recognize this graphic?  It is from Exhibit B-1-1, TSP section 1.1, page 26 of the business plan.

So just tell us what this graphic tells us about the TSP, and my two things I would like to come to is, is this close to the DSP and the capital plan?  This exhibit?  Or is it quite -- or is it a bit out of date?

For example, I do seem to see that the capital is not quite the same.

MR. JESUS:  Yes, this is reflective of the current plan before the Board for the plan period, 2019 through '24.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, thank you very much.  So just to look at the reliability piece of this, you do have a bar chart that shows the delivery aspect, the SAIDI aspect.

They don't seem to be adding up quite to the numbers that we've talked about in the scorecard.  My math -- subject to check -- shows actually 38 minutes of improvement total over the period.  Can you explain that?

MR. JESUS:  Yes, Dr. Higgin.  So hopefully I can explain what's going on here.

So the measures that you were referring to previously with respect to T-SAIFI and T-SAIDI, they represent the overall transmission reliability, which includes single-circuit supply delivery points and multi-circuit supply delivery points.  It is an overall encompassing SAIDI number for the entire province.

The metric that is before you, in terms of the reliability that we use on our scorecard, is for multi-circuit supply delivery points only, the rationale being that the multi-circuit supply delivery points supply approximately 85 percent of our load.  The remaining 15 percent of the delivery points are supplied from single-circuit supply delivery points.

So we choose to monitor closely and report to our senior executive the multi-supplied -- multi-supply delivery point reliability.

DR. HIGGIN:  And so how many delivery points then -- give me the delivery points number that relates -- you said 85 percent?  But is that for the load?  Or is that for the number of delivery points?

MR. JESUS:  So the 85 percent represents the total load supplied from multi-circuit supply delivery points.  Those are the -- generally the big, big LDCs and big customers have the multi-supply delivery points.

The number of delivery points that are supplied from multi is the number 635.  So roughly 70 percent of the delivery points are multi-supplied.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.

MR. JESUS:  The remaining 260 are single-supplied.

DR. HIGGIN:  So when we're looking at metrics, you have just clarified what we should be looking at.  So in terms of outcomes, in terms of T-SAIDI, what should we be looking at in terms of an improvement?  Is it what's in the scorecard, which is 22 minutes?  Or is it what this shows, which is 38 minutes?

MR. JESUS:  So again, to clarify, the chart before you in the placemat that you highlight on your compendium on page 11, that is from multi-supplied delivery points only.

The scorecard, if we can go back to the original scorecard that we're proposing for the OEB, is only the overall number for SAIFI and SAIDI.  So the actual numbers are as presented per the table.

So for example, if I look at your SAIDI number, in 2018 the number was 70 minutes.  The 2019 target would then be 35.4, the difference being effectively 29.6 minutes.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  Okay.  And if we did that historic and so on, the number we can look at just to try and say what is the outcome -- I am talking about outcomes -- is it 22 minutes?  Or is it the full 38 minutes, which includes the multi-circuit as well?  Which is it?

MR. JESUS:  I'm sorry, I am having a hard time understanding the 22.

So this again, just to clarify, T-SAIDI includes everything:  Single-supply delivery points, multi-supply delivery points.  That's what we're proposing in the scorecard.

DR. HIGGIN:  In the regulatory scorecard?

MR. JESUS:  That's correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  That's my math of 22 minutes improvement over 2018.  That's where "22" comes from.

MR. JESUS:  I'm sorry --

DR. HIGGIN:  If you just do the math.  I didn't ask you to do the math; I asked you to take it subject to check.

MR. JESUS:  I'm not understanding the math and maybe you could help me, because it is showing 70 minutes to 35 minutes as the improvement that we are going to achieve.

DR. HIGGIN:  That's a one-year improvement to 2019.  We aren't even finished 2019 yet, are we?

MR. JESUS:  I'm sorry.  The final number over the planned period is going to be 31.97 minutes.

DR. HIGGIN:  Exactly.  And as I said to you earlier, sir, 55 minutes average for the period up to 2018.  And you've got it correct, 32 minutes going forward average.  That's a 22-minute reduction or improvement.

DR. ELSAYED:  So what's the question?

DR. HIGGIN:  So I was just going to ask him -- the first question I asked him, and we have gone aside, was this.  I am trying to clarify the improvement that's in the scorecard, on my math 22 minutes over the forward period, and what's in this graphic, which is 38 minutes.  I am just trying to clarify that.

I think we have an understanding that the one in the scorecard deals with all of the delivery points, and this one does not.  That's what I am trying to understand.

This is the interruptions, T-SAIDI sustained.  I am trying to understand.

MR. JESUS:  I understand that you are trying to compare the average over the previous five years, subject to check, for T-SAIDI -- I actually have the number right here -- overall is 54.9 minutes.  Is that what you indicated?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, sir.

MR. JESUS:  So 54.9 minutes is the average.  And you're suggesting there's a -- the difference between the average and each one of those years is 22 minutes.

DR. HIGGIN:  No, no, no sir.  I'm saying if you take the average going forward from 2018, and that's 2019 through to 2024, the average is around 32 minutes, rounded.

MR. JESUS:  Between where and where?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. JESUS:  Okay.  Subject to check, 32 minutes improvement comparing the previous five-year average to the go-forward five-year average.

DR. HIGGIN:  22 minutes --


MR. JESUS:  Subject to check.

DR. HIGGIN:  22 minutes better is my math, okay.

MR. JESUS:  Okay.

DR. HIGGIN:  I was just saying that is what I see in the scorecard.

Let's just move on, please, to page 12 of my compendium.  I will try to get through this very quickly.

So the line that I want to just focus on in this table is the line that says the sub total for system renewal.  Could you look at that line?

I know it is very small, but I will give you the math.  It says basically you went from just under 700 million a year and you have risen up slowly to, in 2018 and 2019, just over 770 million.  That shows the increase over that period.

So it is approximately just under 100,000 -- $100 million a year increase in system renewal in that period.  Would you agree?

I took the average, but let's not do any more math here, please.

[Witness panel confers]

DR. HIGGIN:  So the question is this, sir, that basically over that period, there was only a small increase in system renewal capital investment over those periods from 2015-2019.

That is surprising, given where we are hearing about system reliability deteriorating.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. JESUS:  Sorry.  Can you repeat your question, please?

DR. HIGGIN:  So the question is:  Over that period, the line there that says subtotal for system renewal shows that if we take an average, it's around 750 million a year, subject to check.  And it's gone up from just under 700 million to 773.  It has increased by about 100 million over -- just under 100 million; 90 million to be specific over that period.

And the question is how did that happen if system renewal was getting -- system reliability was not improving, but in fact going the opposite?

[Witness panel confers]

DR. HIGGIN:  If you would like an undertaking to think about that or come back after the break, I'm happy.

MR. JESUS:  I think we're good to answer the question.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.

MR. JESUS:  So I think for system renewal to go up by, subject to check, your $100 million over the period 2015-2018, we're not only trying to maintain the reliability.  Generally speaking, system renewal is all about maintaining the reliability of the existing infrastructure.

So the system was designed in such a way historically that the inherent reliability effectively will remain intact.

The system renewal is about trying to preserve that functionality the way it was designed.

It's the system service and system access that provides additional redundancy, that reduces the length of our lines up in northern Ontario, that addresses our worst performing circuits such as our outliers, that will significantly make changes to the -- to performance.

System renewal is all about preserving asset condition.  So the assets are aging, they're in deteriorated condition, and we need to make sure that we're preserving that condition, preserving the functionality of those assets, and preserving the reliability that was inherent in the original design of the system.

Having said that, when we do move forward with the system renewal project, we take the opportunity of right-sizing and looking at what has transpired over the last 50 to 70 years or 100 years, and we make the decision based on the current circumstance at the facility or the line.

For example, gauge TS was installed in the 1940s.  We had six transformers there to supply the steel industry.  We are refurbishing that station because of the load situation; we're going from four transformers -- sorry, from six transformers down to two transformers.

We're taking the existing circumstance, the existing load profile to right-size that facility.

The assets were in deteriorated condition.  We need to continue to maintain the condition of those facilities.

So that is what happened since 2015 to 2018.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you for that.  That's where we are. The question is going forward, let's look at my next page, page 16, and this is my last exhibit to talk about.

So tell us now going forward, remember the number we started with in 2019 just around 770 million. Then we see the system renewal budget, the spend here.  So can you just look at the line that talks about that?

First of all, can you tell us if these are all of the relevant projects in the system renewal area?

MR. BRODIE:  The list shown here is an indication of all material system renewal projects included in this transmission system plan, yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  So each project may have several sub-projects.  So there's a lot of sub-projects, but this is aggregated specifically at an ISD level for system renewal.  Is that what I am long looking at?

MR. BRODIE:  That is correct, yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So let's just look at the budget and the spend proposed.

You show that here the first year, 2020, going up from 770 to 869 and to 1.1, 1 point, nearly 2, and then roughly level at 1.2 million.  In other words, close to a 500 million increase.

That's what you are planning to do.  So this is quite a different pace than what you did in the period that we just looked at from 2015 to 2018.  Why is the increased pace?

MR. JESUS:  So the pace is driven by the aging of our assets and having to renew those assets that were built, as I indicated in our morning presentation, post-World War II.

So the average -- the expected service life -- the assets that will exceed their expected service life will ramp up over the next five years, over the next five years, from 1.8 times to over -- almost three times the number of assets will enter, will be beyond their expected service life.

So the assets are deteriorating at a significantly rapid pace, and in order to manage the condition of the assets, to manage the safety, reliability, environmental risk associated with those assets, the operational risk, we're having to increase the system renewal expenditures.

DR. HIGGIN:  So between 2015 and 2018 the assets weren't deteriorating.  Is that what we would understand?  Because you didn't spend a lot of extra money in that period.

MR. JESUS:  So the assets continued to age.  The reality is that there are these -- the assets are accelerating during this period of time and continue to age quite significantly over this period.

DR. HIGGIN:  Fine, thank you.  So finally, can you tell me how you work through the ARA, the asset risk assessment, how you work through between this budget and the number that we are looking for, an outcome of 22 minutes improvement per delivery point?

How do you get the two?  How do you link the two?  Do you have a model?  How do you do that?  Do you go through all of these tables and, for example, as we have asked others, can you put an improvement of SAIDI against each of these numbers?  Can you do that?  Or do you have that?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. JESUS:  So from a reliability forecasting point of view, we don't do it at the individual level.

Again, we don't necessarily -- we don't replace assets strictly based on -- from a reliability perspective.  We need to make sure that we're preserving the functionality, the condition of those assets, to continue to deliver the service that is expected.

So for each one of those, providing what the incremental reliability would be, it would effectively be the same performance that continued to be delivered from those assets.

Where we get into the target-setting perspective, there are initiatives in the plan that focus in on improving reliability through the system service, such as the delivery point performance improvements, such as animal mitigation, distance default, enhancing our analytics by installing dissolved gas analysis, so that we are able to target and identify those assets that will become a problem; i.e., those assets that will demonstrate safety, environmental, and reliability risks.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  You can understand that from a customer point of view one of the outcomes that the customers say is very important is reliability, and I am trying to connect this plan and this budget to the improvement that we have talked about in the targets, 22 minutes.

I am trying to put the two together.  Can you help me do that?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. JESUS:  So when you look at that list of assets, those assets need to be replaced from a condition point of view.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.

MR. JESUS:  They absolutely have to be replaced.  When you start layering on, the outcome associated with that is not necessarily reliability.  We need to maintain the condition of those assets.

As I indicated, the 22 minutes will be an aggregate associated with the additional programs that we've identified that will drive performance improvements associated from system access and system service.

DR. HIGGIN:  For system renewal, this is what I am asking, is that connection.  So you are telling me you have to bring in system access and system service in order to get the improvement?  That's a bigger budget than this.  It is not just system renewal.  So you have to bring in those other budgets as well.  Is that what you are saying?

MR. JESUS:  Let me put it in perspective.  If you have a 200-kilometre line and you are refurbishing the 200-kilometre line with a 200-kilometre line, is the expectation that we would improve reliability?  Or is the expectation that we would not allow it to further deteriorate?

So we're faced with those decisions all the time.  The inherent reliability of that system will not significantly change.

Before replacing a transformer supplied from that line, the reliability delivered to that customer will not significantly change.  We're effectively preserving the reliability associated with the design that is there now.

The only way that you are going to significantly improve the 15 percent of the delivery points that are causing all of the unreliability, they are causing effectively 70 percent of the unreliability, is to make a step-change in terms of how they're supplied.

So from a system renewal, it is effectively to try to preserve the condition, to try to preserve the reliability.  Not allowing it to deteriorate further.

DR. HIGGIN:  So then --


MR. JESUS:  Which is what we're faced with.

DR. HIGGIN:  So then you came to the question that the delivery points that are below standard -- my word -- you just said you will have to focus on those in order to improve reliability.  Is that what I heard you say?  Or am I putting words in your mouth?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. JESUS:  So again, we need to be careful that we're not only focused in on the worst performing delivery points, because similarly supply to the downtown core from a multi-circuit supplied station that services all of downtown Toronto, we need to make sure that that station is preserved and that condition of that station does not deteriorate to the point where there is an event at that station resulting in the loss of supply to all of downtown Toronto.

We don't want to be in those kinds of situations.  So your question to me is, should I be focusing in only on the outlier delivery points?  My answer has to be no, I cannot do that without looking at the rest of the system.

DR. HIGGIN:  So how are you going to improve reliability by 22 minutes as per the targets?  That is what I am just trying to understand.

MR. JESUS:  So the performance improvements, as I indicated, are through the system service and system access where we focus-in on the outlier, as you call it, the outlier performance associated with those delivery points, animal mitigation, which affects a lot of major supply stations, distance default, which is using and leveraging asset analytics and new technologies, operationalizing real time data so we get better information so that we pinpoint where the problems are.

So those performance improvements, together with eliminating or reducing the reliability degradation, is where we are planning on getting the 22 minutes.

DR. HIGGIN:  The fact is that you haven't filed them, that I am aware of, fault codes really do guide where the causes are of the reliability.

I assume that you have all of those data.  And so you would know what is causing the reliability degradation and therefore reversing that, which I think is the plan, would then be driven off knowing what those cause codes were for each of the two systems.  Is that how you would do it?

MR. JESUS:  So we have filed the cause codes. The cause codes -- if you are interested, I can provide you the reference.  The reliability, historical reliability over the period 2012 to 2018 by cause code is in I-07-SEC-44.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, I see that.

MR. JESUS:  So it provides the cause codes for each of the SAIFI and SAIDI.

And so again, we understand where the outages are occurring, and we are targeting to refurbish the transformers, the lines, the P&C equipment, the breakers, the buses.

We are targeting those assets to restore their reliability, to restore their functionality, to restore their condition.  We don't just make investments based strictly on reliability.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Chair, for your tolerance.  Those are my questions.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Mr. Ladanyi, are you going to have cross-examination after the break?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, I will.  So we actually started 20 minutes behind schedule when we started this afternoon.  So I will try to be less than...

DR. ELSAYED:  I understand.  I think we will take the break now and we will be back by 3:50, and then we will give you the floor.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 3:30 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:52 p.m.

DR. ELSAYED:  Please be seated.  Mr. Ladanyi, how long do you think you are going to need?

MR. LADANYI:  I am hoping to be less than 30 minutes, but it depends on the length of the answers.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay, that's a hint, I guess.  Okay, why don't you go ahead.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Ladanyi:

MR. LADANYI:  All right.  Panel.  Good afternoon, I am Tom Ladanyi.  I am consultant to Energy Probe, and the reason why, by the way, Energy Probe has two consultants here is because Dr. Higgin and I deal with different matters.  Dr. Higgin is an expert in reliability and in compensation and I deal with other matters in the case.  So I am happy tell you that I will not have a single question on reliability or compensation.

So before I start my pre-planned questions -- and by the way, I don't have a compendium, because I am only referring to three documents, and I didn't think that was necessary.  I feel there is too much paper in the proceeding.

From this morning's presentation I have a couple of follow-up questions, if I may.  And first can we turn to page 21, which is the five-year capital plan.  So I believe Mr. Spencer was talking when this slide was on the Board, I believe, but I could be wrong.  I don't have total exact recall.

MR. SPENCER:  I was speaking at the time.  I might get some help from friends here, but --


MR. LADANYI:  Anyone who can help you, that's fine.

You mentioned the east-west tie, and I recall that.  And east-west tie, as we all know, has been awarded to your competitor, Nextbridge.  Isn't that right?

MR. SPENCER:  I am well aware, yes.

MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  And painful, no doubt.  And so that project is now under construction, and so we know that.  Now, you spent some money trying to get this project, and what happens to this money?  Is this money part of Hydro One Networks and somewhere inside this application, or is it in some other entity of Hydro One?

MR. SPENCER:  So consistent with our evidence and testimony in the Lake Superior link proceeding, none of those costs are being sought for recovery from ratepayers. There's not a penny in this application associated with that.  We have in fact taken it as a write-down in 2019, but it is in no way reflected in these numbers before the Board.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  Very good, thank you.

Now, about 30 years ago, by the way, Dr. Higgin was a Board member like you gentlemen up there, and lady, and 30 years ago I was managing a capital construction program for another utility.  And we were ramping up just like you are ramping up, planning a much higher level of capital expenditures, and one of the things that I did is I went out and met with contractors and other utilities to see what they were planning and tried to have an assessment to whether everybody doing a lot of work at the same time is going to affect contract prices, scarcity of labour, and so on.

So when I see your five-year capital plan I want to know whether you had gone out and assessed whether you -- essentially, from my estimate, you're going to be fighting for the same contractors who might be working on other projects, like for example OPG's Darlington or Bruce Power or certainly east-west tie.  So have you done anything like that?

MR. SPENCER:  So key message being, we are confident in our capacity to be able to deliver on this plan.  And there's evidence I can draw to you specifically.  JT -- Undertaking JT1.20 is a summary table of our past utilization of contractors, but going forward with the growth in the transmission capital portfolio, we are intending to have an increased reliance on contractors to perform both the engineering and construction elements of our work program execution.

There has historically been approximately 10 percent of our power system work has been contracted, and moving forward that's going to trend up to about 30 percent so that we can build both the scale and capacity with the flexible work force.

MR. LADANYI:  So if I get this right then, a large part of your work is done by your own employees; is that right?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes, historically it's been about 90 percent.  We are going to continue to self-perform a large portion of our work program, especially given the amount of system renewal, which is substantively a brownfield, in situ methodology.  We will -- we have a criteria around what we self-perform and what we do through others, but our internal engineering construction resources are very skilled at delivering in those difficult-to-achieve projects, and we will utilize contracting more often associated with our greenfield projects or, you know, new facilities, system expansions, et cetera.

MR. LADANYI:  You are not covered by the famous Chestnut Park accord?

MR. SPENCER:  We have our own derivative, which is called the Inn on the Park accord.  Different hotel --


MR. LADANYI:  For those who don't know what this is about, this is who does what work, whether PWU does the work or whether the contractor does the work.

MR. SPENCER:  Now, just to clarify so there is no ambiguity, the Inn on the Park accord, which is the jurisdictional sort of agreement between different unions within Ontario and for Hydro One where the work will go, only applies to a subset of our capital work.  So the easiest way to draw it is that our program work within our investment plan goes through an IOPA process -- sorry, Inn on the Park accord agreement, which more or less is 50 percent to the PWU, 50 percent to construction trades.

The rest of our projects go through -- different jurisdiction, different labour requirements, they will be executed by a combination of construction trades, unions, be they IBEW, CUSW.  There is actually 22 unions we work with to achieve our capital program.

MR. LADANYI:  I hate to use the word "benchmark", but do you actually benchmark the costs of contracted-out work versus your own in-house work?

MR. SPENCER:  I wouldn't say we have formal benchmarks.  We have a lot of experience, and there are similar costs between self-perform and contracted.  And the predominant reason for that is that the labour rates in Ontario, whether you are a labourer or electrician or a crane operator, those are set at the provincial level, and it really comes down to, how does a company best utilize their skilled trades resources.  Contractors come, you know, with additional expectation of profit and markup.

Hydro One, we're striving to achieve a work program as safely and effectively as we can.  So there really are differences between the self-perform direct hire model and then the contract model.  We know we need a mix of both to maintain the capacity to deliver on a large capital work program, and also diversity of supply is always good for us as the organization and ultimately for customers as well.

MR. LADANYI:  I notice that east-west tie, you have a contract with Valard Construction from Edmonton.  Do you ever use Valard?

MR. SPENCER:  So we do use Valard, yes.  They're not on a contract with us for the stations, just to clarify.  They're with Nextbridge for construction of the transmission line.  But we have used Valard for transmission line work, a little bit of substation work, but they are one of our qualified service providers, yes.

MR. LADANYI:  And OPG used Kiewit for hydro and Aecon, for example, for nuclear work.  Would you use any of those?

MR. SPENCER:  So Kiewit is not one of our qualified service providers.  Quite honestly, we're too small for them.

So typically we don't find ourselves in the same -- competing for the same resources as Bruce Power or OPG per se, different skill sets.  Like a lot of boiler makers, a lot of larger-scale refurb projects in those areas.

So our qualified service providers are ones that have relevant transmission experience.  We have four categories.  Some of them focus on transmission lines, some focus on substations.

MR. LADANYI:  So these costs that are shown here -- and I will not go through the numbers at all.  I think other intervenors do that -- what happens if once you -- the work starts it actually is much more expensive than you expected?  For whatever reason, whether it's lack of resources or who knows what.  Would you then reset the program and still try to stick to those numbers, or what would you do if the costs turned out to be much higher?

MR. SPENCER:  So we have, as I alluded to earlier, put significant effort into our capital delivery models over the last few years, and we are now seeing the benefits of those enhancements to ensure that we get an accurate scope, schedule, cost, as best we can for individual projects.

And just to sort of step back, at the point of a typical project approval for Hydro One, we are at an AACE, which is the Association for Advancement of Cost Engineering, an AACE class 3 level, which really means that we've done enough of the underlying work, be that engineering, scheduling development, engaging with contractors and material suppliers, et cetera, to have a class 3 maturity on the deliverables, which has a typical range of between minus 20 percent and plus 30 percent.

It is probably oversimplifying the analogy, but the more engineering work you do and the more upfront work, the more clarity you get on your costs.

So we typically approve projects, and I am talking the Hydro One business case approval, at a class 3 level.  So we are anticipating that there is a range of outcomes for every project in our portfolio.  We have an internal project control and variance review and approval process that we follow, and we're managing both at the project and at the portfolio level.

So as was referenced in Exhibit C-2-1-1 for the 2017-18 period, it is anticipated we're going to have some puts and take at individual projects.  Reality is that some come in above budget, some come in below budget.  We're managing to the total portfolio and total envelope on a calendar year.

MR. LADANYI:  I believe -- and I don't have a total recall of AACE, but does AACE have certain criteria for estimating contingency at a class 3 level?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes.  Definition of contingency is one of the areas that's spelled out in a framework, and it is actually one of the areas we have made more significant progress.

It was, in past Board decisions, one of the areas that the OEB offered some guidance, and we have heard that guidance and actually revamped our processes around how we both define contingency and manage contingency through the life of the project.

Some of these details are spelled out in Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 1, and specifically we have the contingency reviews identified on page 13, around how we are managing that.

But if I may, in essence, we used to have sort of a one-size-fits-all approach for contingency definitions that would be typically either 10 or 20 percent.

Since 2017, we have moved to a much more sophisticated and leading practice, which would be every project has its own unique risk register process that's run and there's what things could go wrong, or what things could change, and what could that potential outcome be. Then we do a probabilistic analysis to better inform the contingency.

So we have seen our contingencies within individual projects have been reduced, and we have enhanced our processes in year round how we draw-down and how we manage contingency, where it is authorized, where it is held, how it is reported, et cetera.

MR. LADANYI:  That's actually a good segue into one of the question I was going to ask you about.  If you could turn to Energy Probe Interrogatory No. 14, which is Exhibit I, tab 2, schedule 14, and in that interrogatory, I actually asked questions about contingency.

So could you actually explain to me your answer?  I looked at this and what I am trying to understand is what was the estimated contingency and how did you use it, and why did you decide to use it or not use it.  If you want to refresh yourself about Clarington, or if you don't recall, there's other interrogatories and it is mentioned in the evidence a number of times.

MR. SPENCER:  So I am familiar with the project.  So keep in mind the DRO and this interrogatory response really just deal with 2017 and 2018.

But what that is saying is that at the time the DRO was filed, if you add together the 30.4 million for 2017 and the 21.5 million for 2018, that's a total of $51.9 million.  That's the total project forecast expenditure in the two years and the contingency, again following that similar math, of .7 plus the 2.6. equals 3.3.

And so what we would say is that $3.3 million contingency is out of a total of the $51.9 million from the budget.  And by my notes here, that would be a 6.4 percent of the forecast remaining spend was identified as contingency.

So I would suggest 6.4 percent was a prudent contingency, given the state of that project and where it was at the time of the DRO being filed.

MR. LADANYI:  Very good.  So when it says included contingency, where was it included?  Like, is contingency now in rate base?  Or is it not been used?  What does the word included mean.

MR. SPENCER:  So included in this context was meant to be it's included in the DRO budget.

I think if we look on this one specific project, we actually didn't draw down any of the contingency for either 2017 or 18.

So it was not a cost actually incurred.  Only the actual costs go into rate base.  You know, we're not earning any return on the unutilized contingency on any project.

MR. LADANYI:  So since we're talking about Clarington, can you turn to Energy Probe Interrogatory No. 13?

So in this interrogatory, I asked how you were using prioritization and whether you actually have a system, which you said you did.  You then explained how you used it in the DRO process.

And then you mentioned some of the projects where you decided that you would not start those projects, and they are Leaside, Cherrywood, Shepherd, Detweiler, Minden, Gage, and Stanley transformer stations.  They are on top of page 2 of 2.  And then you mentioned Clarington in the next paragraph.

And I read that paragraph -- and by the way, that same paragraph, identical paragraph is at Exhibit C, tab 2, schedule 1, page 15.  In both places, I read the paragraph and I was trying to understand what it says.

So can you tell me what does it say about Clarington?  Does this mean you have reduced the scope of Clarington by 38 million?  Is that what it means?  You said originally a few minutes ago it was 56 million, Clarington.

So what is 38 million, then?

MR. SPENCER:  So just to clarify, $56 million was the remaining forecast to completion at the point the DRO was filed, and I believe what's referenced in the last paragraph as part of the reference interrogatory, that $38 million is actually a project total -- bear with me.

Now, this was the reduction in capital expenditures for the Clarington project over those two years between 2017 and 2018.

MR. LADANYI:  So if there was a reduction in capital expenditures for Clarington -- I understand Clarington is located just outside Darlington nuclear station -- and actually connects Darlington nuclear station to your transmission grid.  Is that what it does?

MR. SPENCER:  Not exactly, no.  Darlington is connected on the 500 kV system via Bowmanville, and then Cherrywood to Lennox, but the Clarington project, the genesis of it was to plan for the eventual shutdown of Pickering nuclear, and provide additional transfer capacity.

MR. LADANYI:  I seem to recall that now, thank you.  So is this a scope reduction, or is this a saving that we have seen with Clarington?  Or is it both?

MR. SPENCER:  So the Clarington project -- and admittedly, it is tough to get from these two data points.  But the Clarington project was originally approved for approximately $296 million.  The project final cost was much less.  Subject to check, it was in the order of 45 to 50 million less than the original approval.

And the rationale for the lower price than what was originally approved largely came down to the contingency that was originally defined in the project for risks that did not materialize.

That was a contingency -- the project was a project approved in 2012, and we had a consultant at the time helped us with the definition of the contingency for the project.  In hindsight, they took a conservative approach at the time, and set approximately a 50-million-dollar contingency.

So through good execution and monitoring of the project, we didn't have to utilize that contingency.  So as part of the DRO, some of that money was, you know, part of the update forecast, that contingency had been released, no longer required.  We repurposed those funds elsewhere in the portfolio and it is really just a timing issue when the DRO was enabled.

So ultimately, the Clarington project -- I can get the exact number -- was completing for approximately $250 million, significantly less than the $300 million originally approved for.

We only -- in-service, the final price, the cost which was in the order of 250 million.

MR. LADANYI:  So is there anywhere in evidence in this case or in another case where we actually see these numbers?

MR. SPENCER:  Bear with me.  So I can reconstruct some of it for you here.

MR. LADANYI:  Would you like to do it by undertaking and save time?  That's fine.  I don't want to follow up too much on it, but I want to have one more question about Clarington, and I think it is kind of short.  I'll be happy to take an undertaking.

MR. SPENCER:  Sure.  It is quite an easy explanation.  It is actually in our C-2-1-1 exhibit.  We will provide the details in writing for clarification.  We also, you know, through our other OEB processes, that would have been a section 92 project, which would have had full leave to construct, which we are obligated to report against as well.

MR. LADANYI:  Can I have an undertaking number for that?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes, that will be J1.5. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5:  TO CLARIFY THE CLARINGTON NUMBERS


MR. LADANYI:  The reason why I am drilling down into this particular project is, I am trying to make sense of situations where there is a change in scope in situations where you actually find capital productivity savings.

How would you differentiate these two?  And how can the Board have confidence that whatever savings are found are in fact capital productivity savings and not scope savings?

MR. SPENCER:  Sure thing.  So we would not consider a scope reduction to be tier-one productivity.  Our productivity exhibits in section 1.6 of our TSP go into that in greater detail, but scope reduction we don't view as productivity.  There might be cases where it is the right thing to do and it is prudent, et cetera, but distinct for productivity.

And if we are going to use Clarington as an example, it wasn't scope reduction.  The project was completed in its entirety.  In fact, at the tail end of the project we actually added a few incremental scope elements that were in fact required for a variety of reasons, but this would be one where we have characterized it in our evidence when we look at the causality.

It's really one that has been focused on preliminary project definition issues.  The project had a contingency that was very conservative, and through the execution of the project and the five or six years that followed we didn't require that contingency.  We released it back to the pool.  It is actually a great example of how we have evolved in terms of how we define and how we manage our contingency funds.

MR. LADANYI:  Very good.  So if we can go back for a minute to the presentation which is Exhibit K1.1, and page 17.  I believe it was Mr. Jesus who was talking about that on that page.

There we see the improved investment planning process, and at the bottom it says "revised risk assessment framework" and -- yes, page 17.  There we are.

And is it that you would now estimate contingency differently, that you have a different risk assessment framework?  Or is this something entirely different?

MR. JESUS:  It's entirely different.  The contingency would form part of the cost that would be incorporated as part of the risk assessment.  So we would analyze the cost as well as the risks that are being mitigated from a safety, environment, and reliability perspective.

MR. LADANYI:  So when you have this risk assessment -- so this is not the same risk assessment, this is a different risk assessment, but that's fine.

So first on this slide, what was wrong with the old risk assessment?  It says now you revised it.  In a couple of sentences.  You don't have to give us the whole -- there was something basically wrong with it, and then you revised it.

MR. JESUS:  If we can go to TSP 1.1.3.  Page 6.

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, it is on the screen.

MR. JESUS:  1.1.3.  So the process overarching was -- is identified in terms of all the feedback in the areas of concern are summarized in Table 1.

So you can see that the investment plan did not adequately consider customer engagement, and how we addressed that was we considered customer engagement earlier on.  Deficiencies in prioritization.  Questioned the prioritization and the process.  And then new process drives, investment scoring, and optimization risk scores are used to maximize risk mitigation per dollar spent.  So we're using the risk spend efficiency, we're reviewing the total risk that is being mitigated, we're founding -- we're basing all of the investments using the asset condition assessment process and we've simplified the taxonomies, so again it is providing clearer definitions of the rubrics or the taxonomies that planners use to actually evaluate the investments.  And then we're calibrating all of the investments across the entire enterprise to make sure that consistent scoring is actually happening across the entire enterprise.

MR. LADANYI:  So if I can just drill down to your answer now.  Asset condition assessment, do you actually have data on every specific transmission tower in your system, that each one has some kind of a number identifier and you have some data that you can say such-and-such a tower has got this problem and such-and-such has that problem, and similarly with wood poles?  Do you actually have that kind of data?

MR. JESUS:  We do.

MR. LADANYI:  And how often is that collected?  Is it like once a year?  When is that collected?

MS. JABLONSKY:  It's inputted in the database the moment the asset goes into place.  When the asset is installed --


MR. LADANYI:  Installed, and how often -- does somebody visit the tower each year and look at it and say, aha, there is a loose bolt here or something, or this insulator is no good?  What happens?  I am trying to visualize how you're keeping up the database on which you're basing your decisions.

MS. JABLONSKY:  That is done on the condition assessment, it's done on the asset itself.  So for wood pole it would have a set regress to how often we do the condition assessment.  I think for wood poles we do it at 25 years,  and if it's found to be good, then I think it is five years later, five years later --


MR. LADANYI:  Every 25 years is -- you're -- I 
don't --


MS. JABLONSKY:  For a new wood pole.  For a new wood pole, a new wood pole.

MR. LADANYI:  But on the existing towers that have been in place since World War II, I think we heard about, how often does somebody visit and actually look at it?

MS. JABLONSKY:  Once the assets are placed in AA, then there is a regress to how often they're visited.  Based on the ESL, how old the asset is, then it will determine whether this is more frequent.

We do have a heli patrol.  We do have a patrol that goes -- an annual patrol, and we do have a detailed patrol as well.  So with an heli patrol, if there is anything that is found, you do have a detailed patrol where somebody will then have a closer look, they would have a closer look as to what the issue was.

MR. LADANYI:  Patrol can't see corrosion.  You have a section here on corrosion, and I'm not taking you there.  But let's say if you were assessing metal towers, steel towers, for corrosion, how often does somebody actually go there and see if they're rusting, like, walk to the site, look at it, climb up on the tower?  Like, not helicopter, but how often does that happen?

MS. JABLONSKY:  You do have a one year -- you do have an annual foot patrol as well in areas where it is a no-fly zone, and it is also done based on -- you do have a more detail -- let me find -- you do have a more detail ground patrol as well that would then look to see if there's another -- if there's a closer issue.

But at the same time, because the assets that are in AA are aged -- so the age of the asset is there -- it is clear when we do need to go back to check whether we need to shorten the cycle or not shorten the cycle.

MR. LADANYI:  You can't give me any years, like range?  Like, every three to five years, eight to ten years?  I am trying to get a feeling, perhaps the Board is interested --


MS. JABLONSKY:  Okay.  Because the overhead patrol, the helicopter patrol, would be yearly.  So the yearly patrol, we would see whatever is -- whatever we can see from that high-speed patrol.

If there's something that -- if there's a condition base that creates interest, then that will be done in a detailed patrol.  Or wood poles or structures that are beyond their ESL.

MR. LADANYI:  So there is no one there that walks the entire system each year?  That doesn't happen?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. JABLONSKY:  On the foot patrol we have a two-year cycle for no-fly zone, and in the north -- in the south we have five years and ten years.  Do we have someone that walks 29,000 kilometres?  No, we don't.  We don't have that on that basis.

MR. LADANYI:  You have a lot of employees; I didn't mean one single person.

MS. JABLONSKY:  I got your point actually, but it's done based on the information we have collected.

So a condition database, or a condition assessment, that's what drives any more frequency than what is manageable.

MR. LADANYI:  So can I go to TSP section 2.1, page 13 of 54?  So it is Exhibit B-1-1, TSP section 2.1, page 13.  In fact, you directed me in your response to Energy Probe 13 to go look it up, so I looked it up.

And in the second paragraph, you talk about a continuous asset risk assessment process to determine individual asset needs.

So as I gather, this is not from actual annual information.  This is less frequent information.  What does the word "continuous" mean?  Like is it every year, or is it like hourly?  How is this risk assessment performed?  What does continuous mean there?

MR. BRODIE:  Sure. I can provide some clarity and context surrounding the ARA process.

In terms of the context here of continuous, the ARA process, as it exists within the investment planning process, documented here within TSP 21, the investment planning process itself is an annual exercise.  But that said, within the transmission planning organization, our planners are continuously reviewing the information.

So as my colleague, Ms. Jablonsky, had identified or mentioned with regards to asset analytics, asset analytics serves as sort of our aggregate of all of our work management systems in terms of the latest condition information that has come back from preventative maintenance routines, corrective maintenance, any trouble calls that the assets have experienced.

So that is updated effectively to a certain extent on a real-time basis into our SAP system, which is then transposed, and I don't know the frequency at which it is uploaded into our asset analytics system.  But that said, that is what provides sort of that underlying, at least at a screening level, the underlying condition of each of our respective assets, both stations and lines.

MR. LADANYI:  That's fine.  Just to visualize the whole process, so does some person go to, let's say, a major station with a hand-held unit, some kind of a computerized unit, and look around and say, ah, this is a problem and he puts it into the system and so on, and then he up loads it into your SAP.  Is that what happens?

MR. BRODIE:  I would say that is one part.  As part of our ongoing maintenance programs, we do have what is referred to a station visual inspection that is scheduled, I believe, twice a year -- thank you -- at which point that would then be uploaded into our SAP, our work management system, and then that is available for all of the transmission planners within my organization and Ms. Jablonsky's organization to review real time, or I would say as close to real time as possible, information directly from the field.

But that said, the ARA process here is in addition to what is occurring in the field.

We've got our field staff that are continuously performing the routine maintenance and preventive and corrective maintenance on our assets.  But at the same regard, the transmission planners are also looking at holistically now on a cyclical process to inform the development of our investment plan and identifying where we have asset needs.

So the asset analytics tool provides that first level, first cut of screening, at which point then they would drill down, speaking with our subject matter experts, to both confirm what we're seeing in the asset analytics system because it is again just -- it is a computerized system, data in/data out, to validate both what we're seeing.

And then through -- and I believe Mr. Jesus had articulated earlier this morning in terms of our ongoing customer engagement, whether it is through oversight committees, ongoing working relationships we have with major customers such as Toronto Hydro, Ottawa Hydro, Alectra, to inform also the overall plan and ultimately the candidate investments that would go forth into prioritization.

MR. LADANYI:  That's fine.  That's good.  So at the bottom of that page, you're mentioning six risk factors.

By the way, Mr. Chairman, I am hoping this is going to be my last question.  I am really trying to speed it up as much as I can.

And there you are listing condition, demographics, criticality, performance, utilization, and on the following page, page 15, economics.

As I read this, I get the impression that each one of these factors, there is some kind of a numerical score that comes out of it.  And then you put all of these numerical scores into your -- whatever your program is. I don't know if you use Copperleaf or you have your own system.  I have no idea what you use.

Then you kind of massage these and out pops a risk score so that each project has an identifiable risk number, I would think.  Is that right?

MR. BRODIE:  That's not entirely accurate.  But in terms of the assessment that each of these six risk factors having a numerical risk indices associated with them, that is in fact correct.  Our asset analytics tool captures all of that information.  But as I mentioned previously, that is strictly from a high-level screening aspect.

Those risk indices are not what ultimately are applied to the risk taxonomies that Mr. Jesus had mentioned previously, but rather the six risk factors here provide the high-level screening, at which point the planner would then identify through the completion of the ARA process, identifying that at a particular station, we need to do X, Y, Z assets.

From that, we would then derive historical performance and historical failure information, as well as relying on some of the hazard functions that we had defined both on our historical operating experience with our work with EPRI to then map that onto the three risk taxonomies, be it reliability, safety and environment.

It is at that point it's where we're doing the traditional risk calculation of consequence and probability based on our historical operating experience, as well as projected -- or I would say the projected probability again tying back to our historical experience.

MR. LADANYI:  So is this -- I am trying to understand how objective this is.  In the final analysis, let's say you will come up with high risk projects and then some group of senior managers says, oh, I don't want to do that project, I want to do a different one.  Is that what happens, or is it completely objective?

MR. BRODIE:  I think it is important to clarify that when it comes to -- there are obviously a suite of our investments that are mandatory, that we are obligated it undertake as part of the conditions of the transmission system code and our transmitter's license.  So those unto themselves largely the system access in service, those will be included in our plan sort of irrespective as they are an obligation that we are required to undertake.

When it comes to the realm of system renewal, it is through this ARA process, as well as the subsequent risk analysis in the investment planning process that would then articulate and derive effectively a risk mitigated per dollar, as Mr. Jesus alluded to previously.

It is from that point that the prioritization will then prioritize those investments from most risk mitigated to least.

MR. LADANYI:  There is no place -- this is absolutely my last question.  There is no place in evidence that we can see these risk scores for candidate projects?  There is no such document?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BRODIE:  We actually did provide this information by way of undertaking.  If I can bring you to JT 1.12, that may already be there.  And if we scroll through based on what has been submitted in this TSP by ISD, we have identified the risk, the total risk mitigation points from our overall process.

And lastly, when it comes down to our system renewal investments, it is important to note -- and I know I think Mr. Jesus and then my peer, Ms. Jablonsky, has also articulated -- they are fundamentally driven and rooted in the condition analysis, condition basis.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  Those are all of my questions.  I think I will leave more time to the other intervenors.  Thank you.

DR. ELSAYED:  I think what we will do now is we will stop for the day.  I think we've indicated that it is okay that you will start first thing tomorrow.  We just want to give everybody the opportunity to go and vote, and we will start tomorrow at 9:30.  Thank you.
--- Whereupon hearing adjourned at 4:35 p.m. 
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